# UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Trends in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Incidence and Mortality in Canada from

1976 through 2000.

by

Gaia Pocobelli

# A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE (EPIDEMIOLOGY)

# DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY HEALTH SCIENCES

# CALGARY, ALBERTA

# SEPTEMBER, 2004

© Gaia Pocobelli 2004

#### Abstract

This study examined trends in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) incidence and mortality in Canada by age and sex from 1976-2000, described these trends by birth cohort, and projected HCC incidence for the period 2001 through 2015. Using data from the Canadian Cancer Registry and from the Vital Statistics Section of Statistics Canada, annual HCC incidence and mortality rates were calculated by age and sex for persons aged 20 years and older. An age and birth cohort Poisson regression model was used to project HCC incidence rates. The age-adjusted incidence of HCC rose faster in males compared to females, 3.4% per year (from 2.8 to 5.5 cases per 100,000) versus 2.1% per year (from 1.4 to 2.0 cases per 100,000). There was an increasing trend in HCC risk for successive birth cohorts from 1896 through 1956. The projection showed that a continued increasing trend in HCC incidence is expected for males and females through 2015.

#### Acknowledgments

Dr Linda S. Cook was my supervisor during my Master of Science (MSc) program in the Department of Community Health Sciences at the University of Calgary. I am deeply grateful to Dr. Cook for her invaluable guidance and advice at all stages of this MSc project. Dr. Cook's depth of knowledge of epidemiology, her warmth, patience, openness toward questions, and the clear way she explains concepts made my discussions with her great learning experiences.

I also gratefully acknowledge Dr. Rollin Brant and Dr. Sam Lee for their insightful comments throughout this project and especially on the earlier drafts of this thesis. I am also grateful to the external examiner, Dr. Karen Kopciuk for her comments following the oral defence of this thesis.

This project was supported by the Calgary Health Region's Centre for Advancement of Health.

Approval page	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	V
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xii
I. Introduction	1
II. Background	4
A. Primary liver cancer (PLC) and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) nomence	lature 4
B. Hepatocellular carcinoma risk factors	5
Hepatitis B Virus (HBV)	5
Hepatitis C Virus (HCV)	8
Alcohol	9
Cirrhosis	10
Age	11
Sex	11
Aflatoxin B1	
Hereditary hemochromatosis	
C. Changing trends in HCC incidence and mortality	14
III. Specific Aims	16
IV. Research Design and Methods	
A. General Study Design	
B. Methods	17
HCC cases and HCC deaths from 1976 through 2000.	17
HCC incidence and mortality rates	19
Estimated annual percent change in the age-adjusted HCC incidence and	mortality
rates	
Joinpoint analysis of age-adjusted HCC incidence and mortality rates	

# Table of Contents

Birth-cohort analysis of HCC incidence and mortality trends	24
Projected HCC incidence rate for 2001-2005 through 2011-2015	27
Graphical presentation of the incidence and mortality trends	28
Statistical software	28
V. Results	29
A. Hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality trends	29
B. Incidence and mortality trends by age	31
C. Incidence and mortality trends by birth cohort	33
D. Age-cohort model	34
E. Projected incidence rates and projected number of HCC cases from 200	1-2005
through 2011-2015	37
VI. Discussion	38
VII. Future Research	50
VIII. Summary	51
Reference List	53
Figure 1: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality among p aged 20 years or older in Canada, by sex, from 1976 through 2000	ersons 64
Figure 2: Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged years in Canada, by sex and calendar year of diagnosis, from 1976-1980 through 2000.	40-84 1996- 65
Figure 3: Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged years in Canada, by sex and calendar year of diagnosis, from 1976-1980 through 2000	40-84 1996- 66
Figure 4: Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality among p aged 40-84 years in Canada stratified by sex and birth cohort year (plotted on the year of the 5-year birth cohort on the x-axis) in Canada from 1976-1980 through 2000	middle 1996- 67
Figure 5: Birth-cohort relative rate for hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among p in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000, stratified by s adjusted for 5-year age-group at diagnosis	ersons ex and 68

Table 2: Hepatocellular carcinoma incidence trends by age and sex, among persons inCanada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000......71

Appendix F.: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000......81

Appendix G.: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000.....82

Appendix O.: Observed and fitted HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC cases by age at diagnosis and birth- cohort, among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015......90

#### List of Tables

Table 1: The age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality trends, by sex, among persons in Canada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Table 2: Hepatocellular carcinoma incidence trends by age and sex, among persons in Canada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Table 3: Hepatocellular carcinoma mortality trends by age and sex, among persons in Canada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Table 4: Observed and fitted HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of incident HCC cases by age at diagnosis and birth-cohort, among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Table 5: Observed and fitted HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of incident HCC cases by age at diagnosis and birth-cohort, among females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Table 6: Observed (from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000) and projected (from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015) age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) and the number of incident HCC cases among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada.

Appendix A.: Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of incident cases among males aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix B.: Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of incident cases among females aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix C.: Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted mortality rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of deaths among males aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix D.: Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted mortality rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of deaths among females aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix F.: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix G.: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix H.: Period of diagnosis (5-year) by birth-cohort and age-group (5-year) from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

Appendix I.: Relative risks for HCC associated with cohort year of birth and age-specific HCC risk based on an age-cohort model of the observed HCC cases among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Appendix M.: Observed and fitted HCC mortality rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC deaths by age at death and birth- cohort, among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Appendix N.: Observed and fitted HCC mortality rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC deaths by age at death and birth- cohort, among females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Appendix O.: Observed and fitted HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC cases by age at diagnosis and birth- cohort, among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

Appendix P.: Observed and fitted HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC cases by age at diagnosis and birth- cohort, among females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

### List of Figures

Figure 1: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, by sex, from 1976 through 2000.

Figure 2: Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada, by sex and calendar year of diagnosis, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Figure 3: Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada, by sex and calendar year of diagnosis, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Figure 4: Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada stratified by sex and birth cohort year (plotted on the middle year of the 5-year birth cohort on the x-axis) in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

Figure 5: Birth-cohort relative rate for hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000, stratified by sex and adjusted for 5-year age-group at diagnosis.

Figure 6: Hepatocellular carcinoma age-adjusted incidence from 1976 through 2000 and the projected incidence from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015, among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada, stratified by sex.

Appendix E.: Algorithm of hypotheses tested in the joinpoint regression analysis of the trends in the rate of change in the age-adjusted HCC incidence (or mortality) rates for a given sex (and a given age group) from 1976 through 2000 in Canada.

Appendix F.: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix G.: Age-adjusted hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000.

Appendix J.A.: Standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from an age-cohort model of incident HCC cases among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000 versus the fitted number of HCC cases, stratified sex.

Appendix J.B.: Standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from an age-cohort model of deaths from HCC among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000 versus the fitted number of HCC deaths, stratified by sex.

Appendix K.A.: Quantile-Normal plot of the standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from an age-cohort model of incident HCC cases among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex.

Appendix K.B.: Quantile-Normal plot of the standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from an age-cohort model of deaths from HCC among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex.

Appendix L.A.: Observed number of HCC cases versus the fitted number of HCC cases from an age-cohort model of incident HCC cases among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex.

Appendix L.B.: Observed number of HCC deaths versus the fitted number of HCC deaths from an age-cohort model of HCC deaths among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex.

#### I. Introduction

Worldwide, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the fifth most common cancer and the third most common cause of cancer mortality (1). The occurrence of HCC has great geographic variation (2;3). Regions of high incidence (greater than 30 cases per 100,000 population) include sub-Saharan and west Africa, southeast Asia, China and Japan. Regions of intermediate incidence (5 to 30 cases per 100,000) include France, Spain and Italy. A low HCC incidence (less than 5 cases per 100,000) is found in the United States, Canada, Scandinavia, the United Kingdom and Australia (2;4). The two major risk factors for the development of HCC are chronic infection with the hepatitis B virus and chronic infection with the hepatitis C virus (5). Among high incidence countries, with the exception of Japan (6), HCC incidence rates correlate to the prevalence of hepatitis B viral (HBV) infections in the general population (3;4). In low to intermediate incidence countries, and Japan, HCC incidence rates correlate to the prevalence of hepatitis C viral (HCV) infections in the general population (4;6;7). HCC treatment options are poor and the disease is almost always fatal (3).

Several studies have examined HCC incidence and mortality trends in low and intermediate incidence countries. The results of these European (8-12), Australian (13), American (14-16), and Canadian (17) studies were consistent for an increase in HCC incidence and mortality during a period that fell within a range from 1970 to 1998. But the magnitude of the increase and the sex-specific trends varied between studies.

To fully examine the trends over time in HCC incidence and mortality the potential influence of effects related to the age distribution of the population at risk for HCC, the time period of HCC diagnosis, and birth cohorts (persons born within similar

time periods) should be considered (18). The risk for HCC increases strongly with age (19), and therefore changes over a given time period in the age distribution of the Canadian population will influence crude HCC incidence and mortality trends in Canada during that time period.

Factors related to the period of diagnosis include the diagnostic techniques and the treatments used in a population in a given time period (18). An improvement in HCC diagnostic techniques that is taken up broadly by the medical community could result in an increase in HCC incidence for a period of time after uptake relative to before the uptake. Such a change in diagnostic techniques could also influence HCC mortality trends if the change led to increased HCC survival (e.g. if tumors were detected at an earlier stage compared to the previous diagnostic technique and better treatment options were available for earlier compared to later stage tumors). An effect on HCC incidence and mortality that is related to a change in HCC diagnostic technique would be unlikely in Canada for a period of observation extending back 25 years through to the present because the current diagnostic tests for HCC, serum alpha-fetoprotein levels and ultrasonography, have been routinely used since the late 1970's (20) or early 1980's (9;14).

An improvement in HCC treatment options in a given period of time that leads to increased survival times could result in declining HCC mortality trends in subsequent periods of time. But unfortunately in the last 25 years there has been little improvement in HCC survival. Among persons diagnosed with HCC in the U.S, from 1974 through 1976, from 1983 through 1985, and from 1992 through 1999, five-year relative survival was estimated to be 4%, 6%, and 7%, respectively (21).

Birth cohorts effects occur when persons born in different years (e.g. different generations) experience different exposures to risk factors for a given disease (18). Different exposures to a risk factor for a disease among different generations can result in different lifetime risks for that disease in one generation relative to another generation. A classic example of such an effect occurred when young men, newly recruited to the US army during World War II, were given cigarettes as part of their rations (22). Young men during the period of World War II belonged to one generation (ie. they were born in a narrow interval of time (in years)). The age-specific risks for lung cancer were greater for this generation relative to the corresponding age-specific risks for lung cancer in the preceding generation (22).

The rationale for evaluating the influence of birth cohorts on HCC incidence trends in Canada is related to the recent trends in the prevalence of the major risk factors for HCC in Canada (HBV and HCV), and to the modes of transmission of these risk factors. From 1980 through 1995 age-adjusted incidence for HBV infections in Canada rose 465% from 1.8 to 10.2 reported cases per 100,000 population (23). Age-adjusted mortality from non-A, non-B hepatitis was stable from 1980 through 1990 but from 1990 through 1995 it rose 230% from 0.12 to 0.40 deaths per 100,000 population (the molecular cloning of HCV occurred in 1989 and non-A, non-B hepatitis mortality rates are proxy measures of HCV mortality rates(24)) (25). Surveillance for HCV infections started in Canada in 1991 and from 1995 through 1999 age-adjusted incidence for reported HCV infections rose 30% from 47 to 61 cases per 100,000 population (26).

HCV is transmitted by direct exposure, through the skin, to blood (27). In North America, persons at the greatest risk for HCV infections are intravenous drug users, and

before 1990 persons at the greatest risk for HCV infections included hemophiliacs that had had a blood transfusion (24;28;29). HBV is transmitted by direct exposure, through the skin, or through mucous membranes, to blood or semen (27). Intravenous drug users, persons with multiple sexual partners and men that have sex with men are at greatest risk for HBV (30). Sexual transmission of HCV can occur but it is a less common mode of transmission in HCV compared to HBV (27). Because of the increasing prevalence of these infections in Canada since 1980, young men and women that used drugs intravenously or that had multiple sexual partners in the more recent years of the past two decades may face a greater risk for HCC compared to the risk faced by young persons in the earlier years of the past two decades.

The implication for primary prevention of HCC of identifying the subgroups of the Canadian population (age, sex, and birth cohort) that face the greatest risk for HCC is that these groups can be targeted with resources to prevent exposure to HCC carcinogens. To date, no study has published the results of a birth cohort analysis of HCC trends in Canada. The purpose of this study is to update the trends in HCC incidence and mortality in Canada by age and sex from 1976 through 2000, to describe these trends by birth cohort, and to project hepatocellular carcinoma incidence rates in Canada for the period from 2001 through 2015.

#### **II. Background**

#### A. Primary liver cancer (PLC) and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) nomenclature

The liver is the primary site for a number of malignant tumor types: hepatoblastomas, intrahepatic bile duct (cholangio-) carcinomas, and hepatocellular carcinoma (3). Relative to HCC incidence, the incidence of all of these tumor types,

except HCC, are rare (3;5;31). The eighth (1969) and ninth (1979) revisions of the World Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases (ICD) combines cancers of the liver and intrahepatic bile ducts into one class, 155 (32;33). Subclasses distinguish PLC (HCC and hepatoblastoma), ICD-8 and ICD-9:155.0, from intrahepatic bile duct cancer (cholangiocarcinoma), ICD-8 and ICD-9: 155.1. Hepatoblastoma is a very rare childhood cancer that is usually diagnosed before age 3 years (31). The following risk factors are specific to HCC.

#### **B.** Hepatocellular carcinoma Risk Factors

#### Hepatitis B Virus (HBV)

Geographically, countries that have a high incidence of HCC also have a high proportion of HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) carriers (indicating a chronic HBV infection) in the general population (34;35). Almost all countries with a prevalence of HBV carriers greater than 2% have a higher mortality rate from HCC compared to countries with carrier rates below 2% (3).

In a 1998 meta-analysis Donato and colleagues identified 32 case-control studies from 1989 through 1997 that tested for HBsAg antibodies among HCC cases and control patients with chronic liver disease. They found a summary odds ratio (OR) of 13.7 (95% confidence interval (CI) = 12.2-15.4) for persons with HCC being HBV-positive.

An increased risk for HCC among HBV-infected persons was also found in several prospective cohort studies (36-39). The earliest study involved 22,707 male civil servants from Taiwan, tested at baseline for the HBsAg (36). After a nine year follow-up Beasley and colleagues found a relative risk (RR) of 98 (95% CI = 50-193) for the development of HCC among the HBsAg-positive subjects compared to the rest of the cohort (40). This estimated relative risk for the development of HCC did not account for potentially different age distributions in the HBsAg-positive HBsAG-negative subjects (The age distributions for these two groups were not described in the 1981 and 1988 publications of the results but 82% of the cohort were between 40 years and 59 years of age (40)). A recently published prospective study followed 58,545 men from 1992 through 2000 in Haimen City, China, and found an age-adjusted relative risk for death from HCC of 22.3 (95% CI = 18.7-26.6) among males positive for HBsAg at baseline compared to males negative for HBsAg at baseline (39). Because there is no effective treatment for HCC in China and the median survival time from HCC in Haimen City was less than 6 months during the period of observation, the risk for death from HCC was a good proxy for the risk for developing HCC in Haimen City during the period of observation (39).

Chronic HBV infections are defined by the persistence of HBsAg in serum for 6 months or longer (41). Age at the time of HBV exposure is the major determinant for whether an acute HBV infection will become chronic (42). HBV transmissions that occur perinatally, or during childhood are more likely to result in chronic infections compared to transmission that occur during adulthood (43). In low prevalence areas such as Europe and North America, HBV infections occur most often in adults by exposure to contaminated blood through intravenous drug use or by sexual contact with an HBV carrier (41;44). In areas of high HBV prevalence, such as Africa and Asia, infections are most likely to occur during the perinatal period, from mother to infant, or during childhood (27;43). Of the of infants born to mothers positive for the hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg), indicating ability to spread the virus to other people, approximately 90%

develop chronic HBV infections (45). The HBeAg is present among persons with acute or chronic HBV infections (27).

There is evidence to support both a direct and indirect mechanism of HBV carcinogenesis. The direct mechanism requires integration of HBV into the DNA of liver cells (27;43;46-49). The indirect mechanism may result in HBV integration into the host chromosome, but it is not required for carcinogenesis to occur (27;43;46-49). Indirectly, carcinogenesis can occur during the process of chronic necroinflammation of the liver, a condition that occurs in patients with cirrhosis (27;43;46-49). The accelerated cycle of hepatocyte death and regeneration that characterizes this condition is hypothesized to be carcinogenic in three ways: an increased rate of cell division increases the probability of HBV DNA integration into the host chromosome, accelerated cell deaths allow less time for DNA repair, and the inflammation process itself generates oxygen reactive molecules that may be mutagenic (46;47). Seventy percent to 90% of HBV-related HCCs occur in the presence of cirrhosis (40). In Italy, among all cases of HBV-related HCC's seen at 14 hospitals from 1996 through 1997, 93% had underlying liver cirrhosis (50). Additional evidence for an indirect mechanism comes from studies that showed that HBV DNA is not integrated into the cellular DNA of all HBV-related tumors (51;52).

Evidence for a direct mechanism, that requires integration of HBV into the host chromosome, comes mainly from observations that some tumors arise in the absence of cirrhosis, and therefore in the absence of chronic necroinflammation of the liver (53). In the woodchuck animal model, HCC develops in the absence of cirrhosis among woodchucks infected at birth with the HBV-related woodchuck hepatitis virus (54).

#### Hepatitis C Virus (HCV)

After the molecular cloning of HCV in 1989, cross-sectional studies of non-HBVrelated HCC patients found a high prevalence of anti-HCV antibodies in these patients compared to the general population (55-58). The geographic distribution of HCV-related HCC varies. The prevalence of anti-HCV antibodies among HCC cases is 80% in Japan, 60% to 80% in Southern Europe, 30% to 60% in the U.S, and 30% in China and South Africa (59;60). A meta-analysis of 32 case-control studies found the summary odds ratio for persons with HCC being positive for anti-HCV antibodies or HCV RNA was 11.5 (95% CI = 9.9-13.3) (61). Several prospective studies also found an increased risk for HCC among HCV positive patients compared to HCV negative controls (62-66). In a 2000 population-based study in Japan, among 3,052 persons over the age of 29 years tested at baseline for anti-HCV antibodies, and followed for five years, the relative risk for developing HCC was RR = 38.8 (95% CI = 11.4-131.6) for those that were positive for anti-HCV antibodies at baseline compared to those that were negative for these antibodies at baseline (64).

HCV is transmitted through blood and blood products. The most common modes of transmission include intravenous drug use and blood transfusion prior to 1990 (67). Other modes include organ transplantation, patient-to-patient transmission in hospitals, and tattooing (67;68). Sexual and perinatal transmission are less common modes in HCV than HBV (27). Before the molecular cloning of HCV, and the subsequent mandatory screening of blood and blood products in 1990, it is estimated that 16,000 Canadians were infected with HCV through blood and blood products (69). Eighty percent to 90% of persons with acute HCV infections develop chronic HCV infections (24;70). Twenty percent of chronic HCV infections result in cirrhosis and the risk of HCC among persons with cirrhosis is 1% to 4% per year (70). Based on studies of transfusion associated HCC's, the time interval from infection to the development of HCC is roughly 10 to 30 years (55).

Except for rare cases (71), cirrhosis always precedes HCC development in HCV patients (72). This, in addition to a lack of evidence for the integration of HCV into the host chromosome, supports an indirect mechanism for HCV carcinogenesis through the induction of chronic necroinflammation of the liver (27;46;47;49;72).

#### Alcohol

In a review of 22 studies from 1982 through 1990 that evaluated the association between alcohol abuse and HCC, 14 studies found a positive association and 8 studies found no association (34). The dose effect relationship between alcohol intake and HCC was examined separately for men and women for the first time in a 2002 hospital-based case-control study (73). Accounting for age, HBV, and HCV infections, the authors found, for males the risk for HCC increased linearly with increasing alcohol intakes greater than 60 grams per day: 61-80 grams per day, OR = 2.4; 81-100 grams per day, OR=4.2; 101-120 grams per day, OR=7.7; 121-140 grams per day, OR=9.8; and for alcohol intakes greater than 140 grams per day, OR=11.0 (73). Among females, the risk for HCC also increased with increasing alcohol intake greater than 60 grams per day; 61-80 grams per day, OR=16.5 (73). Because of the small numbers of female HCC cases and female controls with alcohol intakes greater than 60 grams per day, alcohol intakes greater than 80 grams per day, alcohol intakes greater than 80 grams per day, or grams per day, alcohol intakes greater than 80 grams per day, or grams per day, alcohol intakes greater than 80 grams per day, or grams per day, alcohol intakes greater than 80 grams per day.

Two models for the involvement of alcohol in the development of HCC have been proposed: one, that alcohol acts indirectly by causing cirrhosis that results in chronic necroinflammation of the liver, and the other, that alcohol is directly carcinogenic (3). Currently there is little evidence that alcohol is directly carcinogenic in HCC (3). Experimentally, there is no animal model for alcohol induced HCC in the absence of cirrhosis, yet an animal model for alcohol induced cirrhosis has been described (3;74). Support for an indirect mechanism for alcohol in HCC comes from a 2001 Swedish prospective cohort study that compared HCC incidence among 186,395 patients hospitalized with either chronic viral hepatitis, alcoholism, cirrhosis or any combination of these conditions between 1965 and 1994 to HCC incidence in the general population (75). The relative risk for HCC with a diagnosis of alcoholism alone was RR=1.6 (95% CI = 1.4-1.8), for cirrhosis alone, RR=12.1 (95%CI = 10.2-14.2), and for alcoholism and cirrhosis, RR=7.9 (95% CI = 6.2-10.0). The increased risk for alcoholism alone was suggested to be caused by the presence of preclinical cirrhosis (75).

#### Cirrhosis

Cirrhosis from any cause increases the risk for HCC (3). But the magnitude of risk depends on the underlying cause of the cirrhosis (4;76). Cirrhosis that results from viral hepatitis carries a greater risk for HCC than alcohol-related cirrhosis (77). Among patients with cirrhosis caused by viral hepatitis, the risk for HCC may be greater for HCV- related compared to HBV- related cirrhosis (4). An Italian study found the 10-year and the 15-year cumulative incidences for HCC in patients with HBV-related cirrhosis (78). Similarly, a Japanese study found the cumulative incidence for HBV-related cirrhosis (78).

was 27% at 10 years and 27% at 15 years compared to 53% and 75% for HCV-related cirrhosis (79). But age is a risk factor for HCC and HBV infected patients are, on average, younger than HCV infected patients (4). In both of these studies the estimated 10-year and 15-year risks for HCC in the cirrhotic patients were not adjusted for age. The Italian study did not describe the separate age distributions of the HBV-infected and HCV-infected cirrhotic patients. In the Japanese study, the mean age of the HBV infected patients with cirrhosis was 43 years (range: 19 years-79 years) versus 55 years (range: 25 years – 84 years) in the HCV infected patients with cirrhosis.

#### Age

Worldwide, HCC incidence increases with age. HCC is rarely seen in patients less than 40 years (3;5;35). A 1991 literature review concluded the mean age of HCC patients in high incidence countries was significantly lower than in intermediate and low incidence countries (35). The different age distributions of HCC patients reflects the geographic variations in exposure to HCC risk factors (5). HCC's caused by HCV infection and alcohol occur, in general, one to two decades later than HBV-related HCC's (4).

#### Sex

HCC is more common among males than females (76). The higher risk in males is seen worldwide, and the male to female HCC ratio is greater in low compared to high incidence countries (20). In the U.S. the male to female ratio is 2.7 (5). Even accounting for the increased frequency of viral hepatitis and alcoholic cirrhosis in males, an increased risk for HCC persists among males compared to females (4). A factor

hypothesized to predispose males to HCC is higher levels of androgenic steroids (5). The results of a recent nested case-control study showed that among HBV carriers, the odds ratio for HCC was 2.1 (95% CI= 1.1-15.4) for males in the highest tertile of testosterone compared to males in the lowest tertile of testosterone (80).

#### Aflatoxin B1

Aflatoxin  $B_1$  is a mycotoxin that contaminates the food supply in certain areas of the world (3;81;82). It is produced by a fungus, *Aspergillis flavus*, that grows on improperly stored foods including corn, rice, and peanuts (3). Two major prospective cohort studies have examined the relationship between aflatoxin exposure and HCC incidence (83;84). Both studies found an increased risk for HCC in persons with detectable levels of the aflatoxin  $B_1$  biomarker, aflatoxin  $B_1$ -N<sup>7</sup>-guanine, in the urine compared to those without detectable levels of this aflatoxin biomarker in the urine. A nested case-control study in the Shanghai cohort suggested that HBV modifies the aflatoxin HCC relationship: after a 4 to 6 year follow-up period, among the subjects that were positive for the urinary aflatoxin biomarkers at baseline, the respective relative risks for developing HCC were RR=3.4 (95% CI=1.1-10.0) and RR=59.4 (95%CI=16.6-212.0) for persons negative for HBsAg at baseline and persons positive for HBsAg at baseline (83).

#### **Hereditary Hemochromatosis**

Hereditary hemochromatosis is a genetic disorder that causes the body to absorb and store abnormally high levels of iron (85). If untreated the excess iron will build up in organs such as the liver, pancreas, and heart (86;87). An accumulation of iron in these organs will lead to organ damage (85-87). The prevalence of hereditary hemochromatosis is roughly 2 to 5 per 1000 population among persons of northern European origin (86). Hereditary hemochromatosis increases the risk for HCC mainly because it increases the risk for the development of cirrhosis (88). Almost all HCCs that occur in persons with hereditary hemochromatosis develop in the presence of cirrhosis (88). But rare cases of HCC developing in the absence of cirrhosis, among persons with hereditary hemochromatosis, have been reported (89). But these cases had evidence of some fibrosis in the liver (89).

Accounting for age and sex, survival among persons with hereditary hemochromatosis but without cirrhosis was found to be the same as survival in the general population (90;91). But among persons with hereditary hemochromatosis and cirrhosis, the relative risks for the development of HCC compared to the risk for the development of HCC in the general population was RR = 240 (95%CI = 138-390), accounting for age and sex (92). And the risk for death from HCC compared to the risk for death from HCC in the general population, among persons with hereditary hemochromatosis and cirrhosis, was RR = 219 (95% CI not shown for this estimate), accounting for age and sex (93).

Fortunately hereditary hemochromatosis is easily treated by phlebotomy, that is, the removal of blood (87). Maintenance of normal iron levels may require a person with hereditary hemochromatosis to give 500 milliliters of blood every three to four months, for the rest of their lives (87). If the treatment is started before organ damage occurs it will prevent future organ damage (caused by excess iron levels) from occurring (87).

Temporal trends in U.S. hereditary hemochromatosis hospitalization rates were described for the period from 1979 through 1997 using data from the National Hospitalization Discharge Survey (NHDS) (94). The NHDS is a population-based survey that estimates inpatient use of short-stay, non-federal hospitals in the U.S. (94). From 1979 through 1997 overall hereditary hemochromatosis-associated hospitalization rates increased slightly from 2.2 per 100,000 population in 1979-1982 to 3.0 per 100,000 in 1993-1997 (94). The increase may be due to an increased awareness of and increased testing for this disorder after 1995; the gene that carries the mutation for hereditary hemochromatosis was identified in 1996 (87;94). Rates of hereditary hemochromatosisassociated hospitalization are low relative to the prevalence of hereditary hemochromatosis in the population. The suggested causes for the low hospitalization rates include an infrequent need for hospitalization among persons with hereditary hemochromatosis and under-reporting or under-diagnosis of hereditary hemochromatosis by physicians (94).

#### C. Changing trends in HCC incidence and mortality

Several recent studies have found an increasing trend in HCC incidence in developed countries (generally regions of low and intermediate incidence) and a decreasing trend in HCC incidence in developing countries (generally regions of high incidence). An increasing trend occurred from the mid-1970's through the mid-1990's in European countries including, the U.K. (8), France (9;10), Portugal (11), and in Australia (13), Canada (17), and the U.S. (14-16). In contrast, in China, among both men and women HCC incidence decreased 22% and 21% respectively between 1972-73 and 1993-94 (95). Sixty percent to 90% of HCC diagnoses in China and are associated

with HBV infections (96). A decrease in HCC incidence between 1978 and 1992 occurred in other regions of Asia including, Singapore (-30%) and Bombay (-20%) (20). In Taiwan, the incidence of HCC among children decreased dramatically during the period from 1981-1986 through 1990-1994 (97). (HCC occurs in children in high incidence countries when HBV infections are acquired perinatally (97).) This decrease in HCC incidence that occurred in Taiwan was attributed to a nationwide HBV vaccination program for infants that started in 1984 (97). The HBV vaccine was licensed for use in 1982 and it is included in the national immunization programs of most Southeast Asian countries (98).

Among developed countries Japan is an exception because it is a region of high HCC incidence (6). Although the increasing trend in HCC incidence among developed countries (other than Japan) was first described in 1997 (8-14), such a trend was observed in Japan 10 years earlier (99). A 1987 report was the first evidence for a dramatic increase in the occurrence of HCC in Japan for the period from 1963 through 1983 (99). HCC incidence has continued to increase in Japan and today is almost 40 per 100,000 population per year (7). Approximately 80% of HCCs in Japan are etiologically associated with HCV (7). HCV transmission increased after World War II among those aged 15 to 25 years (6;7). Social conditions during this period were poor; intravenous methamphetamine use and remuneration of blood donors were major factors in its transmission among the young age groups (6;7). HCV spread to the general population by blood transfusions and tattooing (6;7).

In Canada, among current HCV cases with known risk factor information, 60% of those aged 15 to 44 years reported intravenous drug use between 1982 and 1985 and

90% of those older than 44 years reported a blood transfusion during this period (100). It is estimated that currently 192,000 persons have a chronic HCV infection in Canada (100). Up to 1990, an estimated 16,000 blood transfusion recipients were infected with HCV through blood or blood products (69). On average, the currently surviving Canadian cases of post-transfusion hepatitis C were infected 20 years ago (100).

#### **III.** Specific Aims

1. To describe the overall HCC incidence and mortality trends in Canada from 1976 through 2000, by sex.

 To describe the age-specific HCC incidence and mortality trends in Canada, from 1976 through 2000, by sex and birth cohort.

3. To project HCC incidence rates in Canada from 2001 through 2015, by sex.

#### **IV. Research Design and Methods**

#### A. General Study Design

This project is a descriptive study of the overall trends in HCC incidence and mortality in Canada from 1976 through 2000, by sex, and of the age-specific trends in HCC incidence and mortality in Canada, from 1976 through 2000, by sex and birth cohort. All analyses are based on HCC incidence data from the Canadian Cancer Registry (101) and HCC mortality data from the Causes of Death publications from 1976 through 2000 (102) from the Vital Statistics and Disease Registries Section of the Health Division of Statistics Canada.

#### **B.** Methods

#### HCC cases and HCC deaths from 1976 through 2000.

HCC incidence data from 1976 through 2000 are from the Canadian Cancer Registry (CCR) (101). Since 1975 each province and territory in Canada has operated a cancer registry that attempts to identify all cases of cancer that occur among persons with a permanent residence in a given province or territory (101). Provincial and territorial cancer registries report to the CCR, on an annual basis, all incident cancer cases, by primary site of cancer occurrence (categorized by International Classification of Diseases, ninth revision (ICD-9) (33) for 1976 through 2000), diagnosis date, province or territory of residence, sex, birth date, and death date (101). The data sources for the provincial and territorial registries include: pathology reports, radiology reports, cytology reports, death certificates, autopsy reports, hospital discharge records, out-patient records, and cancer center treatment files (101). The percentage of all cancer cases in the CCR that were registered by death certificate only remained stable at 2% to 3% between 1974 and 1988 (101).

To comply with the confidentiality requirements of Statistics Canada's Statistics Act, the number of HCC cases for a given sex, age-group, and period of diagnosis were suppressed by the CCR if the number of cases was less than 4 cases. Therefore, from 1976 through 2000, if the number of HCC cases for a given sex, age-group, and year of diagnosis was suppressed the number of cases was assumed to be the average of 0, 1, 2, and 3 cases (ie. (0 + 1 + 2 + 3)/4 = 1.5), that is 1.5 cases.

HCC mortality data from 1976 through 2000 are from the annual Cause of Death publications from the Vital Statistics and Disease Registries Section of the Health

Statistics Division of Statistics Canada (102). These publications are based on death registration data provided to Statistics Canada from Vital Statistics Registries in each province and territory (102). For each death in all provinces and territories the data recorded on the death certificate include: age at death, sex, marital status, place of residence and birth place, date of death, underlying cause of death (ICD-8 (32) from 1976-1978, ICD-9 from 1979-1999, and ICD-10 for 2000) and the province or territory of the occurrence of death (102).

HCC cases were identified by the ICD-9 code specific to primary liver cancer not including intrahepatic bile duct cancer (ICD-9 155.0). Deaths were identified by ICD-8 155.0, ICD-9 155.0, and ICD-10 C22.0. ICD-8 and ICD-9 155.0 include the rare childhood cancer, hepatoblastoma. Between 1973 and 1992, 124 children younger than 5 years of age were diagnosed with this cancer in the U.S. (103). Of these children, 75% were diagnosed at one year or younger (103). In contrast, HCC rarely occurs in children except in HBV endemic countries (3;5;35;97). It is unlikely that cases of hepatoblastoma were included in this study because data were only obtained for incident HCC cases and HCC deaths among persons 20 years of age or older. The ICD-10 code C22.0 is specific for HCC and does not include hepatoblastomas (104).

ICD-8 and ICD-9 155.0 also include a rare histologic type of HCC, fibrolamellar carcinoma, that may actually be a distinct liver cancer from HCC (105). Fibrolamellar carcinoma is equally likely to occur in men and women, and a higher proportion of fibrolamellar carcinomas occur in young persons compared to the proportion of HCCs that occur in young persons (105). But fibrolamellar carcinoma is very rare; in the U.S. its age-adjusted incidence was stable at 2 cases per 10,000,000 population from 1991-

1995 through 1996-2000 (105). The age-adjusted incidence of HCC (excluding fibrolamellar carcinoma) in the U.S. during the same period ranged from 220 cases to 300 cases per 10,000,000 population (15). Assuming the same proportion of HCCs in Canada and the U.S. are fibrolamellar carcinomas, (i.e. that less than 1% of the HCCs that occur each year are fibrolamellar carcinoma) and assuming that this proportion remained low and stable from 1976 through 2000 (in the U.S. this proportion ranged from 0.6% in 1984-86 to 0.9% in 1990-1992 (15;105)), the Canadian HCC trends that include and exclude fibrolamellar carcinoma are likely to be very similar.

#### HCC incidence and mortality rates

Annual age-specific HCC incidence and mortality rates are presented per 100,000 person-years for 11 age groups: a single group for persons aged 20-39, 9 consecutive 5year age groups and a single group for persons aged 85 years or older (Appendices A-D). The denominators for the annual age-specific rates were the age-specific population estimates from 1976 through 2000 obtained from Statistics Canada's Data Liberation Project at the University of Calgary (106).

The period from 1976 through 2000 was divided into five five-year intervals: 1976-1980, 1981-1985, 1986-1990, 1991-1995, and 1996-2000. The census counts over the study period occurred in 1976, 1981, 1986, and 1996. Based on the results of postcensal coverage studies, Statistics Canada adjusts the census counts for estimated under coverage or duplicate coverage (107). The adjusted census counts are used to produce annual population estimates for non-census years (107). Annual estimates for non-census years contain the same types of errors as those for census years plus other errors that are related to the length of time since the reference census (106).

The number of person-years of observation for each five-year interval was estimated by the method described by Esteve and colleagues (108). For example, for the first five-year time interval, from January 1, 1976 to December 31, 1980, for the age group 50 to 54 years, the number of person-years of observation was estimated by summing the number of individuals aged 50 to 54 years in 1977, 1978, 1979, 1980 and the arithmetic average of the number of individuals in 1976 and 1981 (i.e. the number of individuals at the beginning of 1976 and the end of 1980) (108). The estimated person-years contributed for each five-year interval by this method is more accurate than simply using five times the midpoint population estimate (108).

The age-adjusted rates were calculated by the method of direct standardization (108). The 1991 Canadian population was used for age-adjustment. The ninety-five percent confidence intervals for the age-adjusted rates were calculated using the t-distribution and the following formula (109):

Lower 95% CI =  $e^{[ln(Yi)-2.0*\sqrt{Vi})]}$ 

Upper 95% CI =  $e^{[\ln(Yi)+(2.0*\sqrt{Vi})]}$ 

Where,

 $Y_i$  = the age-adjusted rate for a given time interval, i.

 $V_i$  = the estimated variance of the natural logarithm of an age-adjusted rates for a given time interval, i (in calendar years).

$$V_{i} = \left[\sum_{(j=1 \text{ to } A)} c_{j}^{2} z_{ij} / n_{ij}^{2}\right] / \left(\sum_{(j=1 \text{ to } A)} c_{j} z_{ij} / n_{ij}\right)^{2}$$

Where,

j = age-group (grouped from 1 to A, units = years)

 $c_i$  = age-specific age standard (1991 Canadian population)

z<sub>i</sub> = cancer cases or cancer deaths for a given time interval (years) and age-group (years)

 $n_{ij}$  = population (person-years) for a given age-group and time interval (years).

# Estimated annual percent change in the age-adjusted HCC incidence and mortality rates.

The annual percent changes in the age-adjusted incidence and mortality rates during the period of observation (1976 through 2000) were estimated. This was done by fitting a regression line to the natural logarithm of the annual age-adjusted rates for the period 1976 through 2000 (110). The calendar year of HCC diagnosis was the independent variable in this linear regression analysis (110). The linear regression equation for estimating the annual percent change in the age-adjusted HCC incidence rates from 1976 through 2000 was (110),

 $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X + \varepsilon$ 

Where, Y = ln (annual age-adjusted HCC incidence rates)

X = calendar year of HCC diagnosis

 $\beta_0 = a \text{ constant}$ 

 $\varepsilon$  = the variance in the ln (population age-adjusted HCC incidence rate) for a given calendar year of HCC diagnosis, X.; i.e. the error term.

Then,  $(e^{\beta 1}-1)^*$  100 was the annual percent change in the age-adjusted incidence rates (110).

A separate model was used to estimate the annual percent change in HCC mortality rates; the natural logarithm of the annual age-adjusted mortality rates from 1976 through 2000 were regressed against the calendar year of HCC death. And for both the

age-adjusted incidence rates and the age-adjusted mortality rates, the annual percent changes from 1976 through 2000 were estimated using separate models for males and females. Separate models were also used to estimate the annual percent changes in the age adjusted incidence and mortality rates for males and females aged 20-49, 50-64, 65-74, and 75 years and older. The linear regression coefficients were estimated by weighted least squares where the weights were proportional to the inverse of the variance of the natural logarithm of the age-adjusted rates (where the variance was equal to  $V_i$  (see preceding section for the formula for  $V_i$ )) (111).

The 95% confidence intervals for the estimated annual percent changes used the tdistribution and the following formula (111),

Lower 95% CI =  $100 \{ \exp[\beta_1 - (\text{standard error of } \beta_1)^* t_{n-1}^{-1}, 0.975] - 1 \}$ 

Upper 95% CI = 100 {exp[ $\beta_1$ +(standard error of  $\beta_1$ )\*  $t_{n-1}^{-1}$ , 0.975]-1}

Where,

n = the total number of annual age-adjusted rates.

#### Joinpoint analysis of age-adjusted HCC incidence and mortality rates.

Estimating a single average annual percent change in age-adjusted HCC incidence (or mortality) rates for the period from 1976 through 2000 assumes that a constant rate of change in age-adjusted HCC incidence (or mortality) occurred during this period. Joinpoint regression analysis was used to evaluate this assumption (109). A joinpoint is defined as the estimated year of HCC diagnosis (or death), when there was a change in the rate of increase or decrease in the age-adjusted HCC incidence (or mortality) rates. Joinpoint regression analysis was used to test for a maximum of three joinpoints and a minimum of zero joinpoints. The algorithm of hypothesis tests for the joinpoint regression analysis is described in Appendix E. Three hypotheses were tested to evaluate whether there were changes in the rate of change of HCC incidence (and mortality) rates for the period from 1976 through 2000. To account for the greater probability of detecting a joinpoint statistically (or detecting an additional joinpoint), when a true joinpoint (or a true additional joinpoint) did not exist (i.e. the probability of a type I error), the alpha levels for each of the three hypothesis tests was adjusted by the Bonferroni method (111). The alpha level for each hypothesis test was equal to 5% divided by three (i.e. 1.67%) and the overall probability of a type I error remained 5%.

At the 1.67% level of statistical significance there was little evidence against the null hypotheses of no joinpoint over the period of observation (1976 through 2000), (versus 3 joinpoints, versus 2 joinpoints , and versus 1 joinpoint, Appendix E) and therefore a constant rate of change from 1976 through 2000 was assumed for: overall female HCC incidence and mortality rates, overall male HCC incidence and mortality rates, age-adjusted HCC incidence rates for males 20-49 years, 50-64 years, 65-74 years and 75 years and older, and age-adjusted HCC incidence rates for females 20-49 year, 50-64 years, and 65-74 years. There was evidence, at the 1.67% level of statistical significance, against the null hypothesis of zero joinpoints versus one joinpoint for the HCC mortality rates among females aged 75 years and older (joinpoint at year of HCC death = 1987 (95% CI = 1984-1991). The annual percent changes were estimated separately for the period of death from 1976 through 1987 and for the period of death from 1976 through 2000 (Table 3).

In the previous study of trends in HCC incidence and mortality in Canada, ElSaadany stated that the joinpoint regression analysis of the trends in incidence and mortality rates from 1969 through 1997 suggested a change in the trends occurred in 1991 (17). But the ElSaadany study showed no evidence to support this statement (e.g. the rates of change for the 1969 through 1991 and 1991 through 1997 [or 1998 for mortality rates] were not shown) and instead a single average annual rate of change is shown for entire period of observation, for both the HCC incidence and the HCC mortality rates.

#### Birth-cohort analysis of HCC incidence and mortality trends.

Thirteen birth cohorts were constructed based on nine five-year age groups at diagnosis (or death) from 40-44 years through 80-84 years, and five five-year periods of diagnosis (or death) from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000. The birth cohorts were constructed using the formula:

Year of diagnosis (or death) – Age at diagnosis (or death) = Year of birth

The earliest year (or lower limit) of a given birth cohort was obtained by subtracting the oldest age at diagnosis (or death) in a given five-year age group from the and earliest year of diagnosis (or death) in a given five-year period of diagnosis (or death). The most recent year (or upper limit) of a given birth cohort was obtained by subtracting the youngest age at diagnosis (or death) in a given five-year age group from the most recent year of diagnosis (or death) in a given five-year age group from the most recent year of diagnosis (or death) in a given five-year period of diagnosis (or death) (112). Thirteen, overlapping, nine-year birth cohorts were constructed (Appendix
H). The overlap between adjacent birth-cohorts occurs because the data obtained from the Canadian Cancer registry was aggregated for age (into five-year groups) and for the period of diagnosis (or death) (into five-year groups). Consider the period of diagnosis 1976 through 1980 and the age-group 65-69. Persons aged 65-69 years when diagnosed in 1976 were born sometime from 1907 through 1911. Persons aged 65-69 years when diagnosed in 1980 were born sometime from 1911 through 1915. Therefore persons aged 65-69 years that were diagnosed in the period from 1976 through 1980 were born during the period from 1907 through 1915. Similarly, persons aged 70-74 years when diagnosed in 1980 were born sometime from 1906 through 1910 and persons aged 60-64 years when diagnosed in 1976 were born sometime from 1912 through 1916. As a result except for persons born in the middle year of the birth-cohort (e.g. 1911) persons in a given birth-cohort also contribute to the population at risk for HCC in an adjacent birth-cohort (22;112).

One method proposed to reduce the overlap in the population at risk for disease in adjacent birth-cohorts is to use smaller age-groups and shorter periods of diagnosis (or death) (e.g. two-year age-groups and two-year periods of diagnosis (or death))(113). But using smaller age groups and shorter intervals of HCC diagnosis would have resulted in greater suppression of data from the Canadian Cancer Registry (cells with less than 4 cases were suppressed).

Age-specific rates were compared graphically for successive birth cohorts to evaluate whether the lifetime risk for HCC changed between successive birth cohorts.

The magnitude of the risk for HCC associated with each birth cohort was evaluated using an age-cohort model (114). The age-cohort model assumes that there are

no period effects during the time period of observation (1976-1980), it assumes the underlying distribution of the incident HCC cases and HCC deaths are Poisson, and that the difference between the observed HCC rates and the HCC rates fitted by the age-cohort model (i.e. the residuals) are independent and identically distributed when plotted against the fitted HCC rates (114).

The age-cohort model was  $\mu_{ij} = a_i * c_j$ 

Where,  $\mu_{ij}$  = the incidence rate for the ith age category and the jth birth cohort.

 $a_i$  = the age-specific incidence (or mortality) rate for the ith age category  $c_i$  = the cohort effect for the jth birth cohort.

The reference group for the cohort effects was the 1916 birth cohort. The 1916 birth cohort was the first birth cohort to have the maximum number of age-specific incidence rates for a given birth cohort among persons aged 40-44 through 80-84 at diagnosis (or death) from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000 (Appendix H). Given this reference group, the a<sub>i</sub> estimates are the estimated age-specific incidence rates for the 1916 birth cohort (114).

Standardized residuals (chi-residuals) were calculated to assess the goodness-offit of the age-cohort models. The formula for the standardized chi-residuals (114) was,

$$S_{ij} = (C_{ij} - C_{ij}) / \sqrt{C_{ij}}$$

Where,  $S_{ij}$  = the chi-residual for the ith age-group and the jth birth-cohort

- $C_{ij}$  = the observed number of cases for the ith age-group the jth birthcohort
- $C_{ij}$  = the expected number of cases for the ith age-group and the jth birthcohort (this value was obtained by multiplying the expected rate for the ith age-group and the jth birth-cohort by the person-years of observation for the corresponding age-group and birth-cohort)

### Projected HCC incidence rate for 2001-2005 through 2011-2015

To project beyond the 1952-1960 birth-cohort, the risk for HCC for the subsequent 3 birth-cohorts, 1957-1965, 1962-1970, and 1967-1975 was assumed to be the same as the 1952-1960 birth-cohort for males and the average of the risks for the 1947-1955 and 1952-1960 birth-cohorts for females. The projected incidence rates for a given age-group and a given birth-cohort were calculated based on the age-cohort model.

The projected counts for a given age group and birth cohort were obtained by multiplying the projected rate for the ith age-group and the jth birth cohort by the person-years of observation for the corresponding age-group and birth cohort. The person-years of observation for a given age-group and birth cohort for the period 2001-2015 were obtained from Statistics Canada's age-specific population estimates for the years 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2011, and 2016 (115). The population estimates for the medium population growth scenario were used. The medium growth scenario assumes continuation of the current trends in population growth and life expectancy for 2001 through 2015 (115).

The age-specific population estimates for the years 2007 and 2008 were assumed to be the same as the year 2006, the estimates for years 2009, 2010, 2012, and 2013 were

assumed to be the same as the year 2011, and the estimates for the year 2014, and 2015 were assumed to be the same as the year 2016.

The projected cases were summed across birth cohorts for the three five-year periods 2001-2005, 2006-2010, and 2011-2015 to obtain the numerator for the projected age-specific rates for these time periods. The projected rates for these three time periods were age-adjusted to the 1991 Canadian population using the method of direct standardization (108).

## Graphical presentation of the incidence and mortality trends.

To facilitate the comparison of HCC trends over time, the y-axis of the graphs are plotted on a logarithmic scale, and for all graphs, a 10-fold difference on the y-axis is the same length as a 40-year difference on the x-axis (116). Visually one can get a rough estimate of the rate of change of HCC incidence and mortality with these graphs because a slope of 10 degrees reflects a rate of change equal to one percent per year (116).

# **Statistical software**

All statistical analyses, except the joinpoint regression were done using Stata Intercooled version 8. The joinpoint regression was done using the Joinpoint Regression Program available from the U.S. Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results Program website (111). All graphs were generated using Stata Intercooled version 8.

## V. Results

#### A. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Incidence and Mortality Trends

During the period from January 1, 1976 through December 31, 2000 there were 13,993 reported cases of HCC and 8933 reported deaths from HCC among persons in Canada aged 20 years or older. Among females, there were 244.5 million person-years of observation and 4,077 incident cases and 2,686 deaths from HCC. Among males there were 234.7 million person-years of observation and 9,916 incident cases and 6,247 deaths from HCC.

There was an increasing trend in the incidence of HCC among males and females during this period (Figure 1) and for each year from 1976 though 2000 the age-adjusted incidence rate was higher among males compared to females. The highest age-adjusted incidence rate occurred in 2000 among males (5.8 per 100,000 person-years) (Appendix A) and in 1998 and 2000 among females (2.3 per 100,000 person-years) (Appendix B). For the period from 1976 through 1980 compared to the period from 1996 through 2000 the age-adjusted incidence rate rose 96% from 2.4 to 5.5 per 100,000 person-years among males and 43% from 1.4 to 2.0 per 100, 000 person-years among females (Table 1). Although the age adjusted incidence rates were higher among both males and females in 2000 relative to 1976, the average rate of increase in the age adjusted incidence rates from 1976 though 2000 was greater for males, 3.4% per year (95% CI = 3.1% to 3.8% per year) compared to females, 2.1% per year (95% CI = 1.5% to 2.8% per year)) (Table 1).

Similarly to the HCC incidence trends, the average annual rate of increase in HCC mortality from 1976 through 2000 was greater for males compared to females (Table 1).

In terms of a comparison of incidence versus mortality rates within the sexes, for females, despite an increasing trend in the age-adjusted incidence rates from 1976 through 2000, the age-adjusted mortality rates were roughly stable (Figure 1 and Table 1). The average rate of increase in HCC incidence among females was 2.1% per year (95% CI = 1.5% to 2.8% per year) compared to a rate of decrease in female HCC mortality of 0.36% per year (95% CI = 0.54% to 1.2% per year) (at the 5% level of statistical significance the 0.36% per year rate of change was not different from a rate of change equal to 0 (P=0.413)). As a result, there was a diverging trend for female incidence and mortality during the period of observation, from a 40% to a 100% lower age-adjusted mortality versus incidence rate for the period from 1976 through 1980 relative to the period from 1996 through 2000.

For males, the average annual rate of increase in age-adjusted incidence was approximately 2.5 times the average annual rate of increase of age-adjusted mortality, 3.4% per year (95% CI= 3.1% to 3.8% per year) compared to 1.4% per year (95% CI=0.68% to 2.2% per year) for the period 1976 through 2000 (Figure 1 and Table 1). As a result, male age-adjusted incidence and mortality also diverged from a 27% to an 83% lower mortality versus incidence rate for the period from 1976 through 1980 relative to the period 1996 through 2000.

Because the rate of increase in HCC incidence and mortality was greater for males compared to females during the period of observation (1976 through 2000), the trends for males and females were analyzed separately, and for the remainder of this paper they will be presented separately.

#### **B.** Incidence and mortality trends by age

Figure 2 shows the age-specific incidence of HCC among males and females for each five-year time period from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000. The five-year agespecific incidence rates among males show a roughly uniform proportional percentage increase in the incidence of HCC from the earliest (1976 through 1980) compared to the most recent (1996 through 2000) period of diagnosis for all age groups. A similar trend occurred among females but the proportional percentage increases in age-specific incidence was smaller for females compared to males. Among females, one of the greatest increases in incidence between successive time periods occurred from the period 1991 through 1995 compared to the period from 1996 through 2000 among those aged 65-69 years and 70-74 years at diagnosis.

Age-specific HCC incidence rates for broader than five-year age groups are presented in Table 2. The broad age-specific rates were age-adjusted to account for changes over time in the age distribution of the Canadian population within these age categories. The greatest increase in HCC incidence occurred in both males and females aged 65-74 years. HCC incidence increased 51% from 4.3 (95% CI = 3.3-5.5) to 6.5 (95% CI = 5.5-7.6) per 100,000 person-years among females aged 65-74 years and 115% from 10.2 (95% CI = 8.6-12.2) to 21.9 (95% CI = 19.9-24.1) per 100,000 person-years among males in the same age-group from the period 1976 through 1980 compared to the period 1996 through 2000.

The average annual rate of increase from 1976 through 2000 was similar for males aged 20-49 years, 50-64 years and 65-74 years (range 3.3% per year (95% CI = 2.3% to 4.3% per year) to 3.7% per year (95% CI = 3.2% to 4.3% per year) (Table 2 and

Appendix F). The rate of increase for females aged 65-74 years was 2.8% per year (95% CI = 1.9% to 3.8% per year).

Age-specific mortality trends were also examined among males and females (Table 3 and Appendix G). Because of the small number of female deaths from HCC per year within each age group, the standard error for each estimated annual mortality rate was relatively large compared to the rates themselves, and as a result, the slope of each age-specific regression line (i.e. the estimated annual rate of change of the mortality rates for each age-group for the period from 1976 through 2000) was influenced by a large number of outliers relative to the total number of annual mortality rates within each age group. As a result, the estimated rates of change for the female age-specific mortality rates in Table 3 may not be valid approximations of the true rates of change for these age groups. But Figure 3 shows little change in the age-specific mortality rates from HCC among females for all five-year age groups from age 40-84 years during the period of observation (1976 through 2000).

Among males, for corresponding age groups, the proportional percent increase in HCC mortality was two-fold to three-fold lower than the proportional percent increase in HCC incidence during the period from 1976 through 1980 compared to the period from1996 through 2000 (Table 2 and Table 3). A slight increase in the rate of HCC mortality occurred from 1976 through 2000 among all male age groups: the rate of increase ranged from 1.0% per year (95% CI = 0.2% to 1.9% per year) among those 75 years or older to 1.6% per year (0.5% to 2.7% per year) among those 20-49 years. Figure 3 shows the age-specific mortality rates from HCC did not increase among males aged 55-70 years from 1986-1990 through 1996-2000.

## C. Incidence and mortality trends by birth cohort

The age-specific incidence and mortality trends by year of birth are presented for males and females in Figure 4. The rates vertically above a given year of birth are the age-specific risks for HCC for persons born in that year. Corresponding age-specific rates can be compared for successive birth cohorts to evaluate whether the age-specific risks for HCC changed from one birth cohort to the next. If the age-specific risks for HCC did not differ between successive birth cohorts, on a semi-logorithmic graph (ie. Figure 4) the corresponding age-specific risks between the birth cohorts would be linked by horizontal lines, resulting in a graph with a series of age-specific parallel lines representing age-specific rates.

Among males, the age-specific incidence rates increased from the 1896 birthcohort through the 1956 birth-cohort. There was a striking acceleration in the agespecific incidence of HCC among males born from 1941 through 1956 compared to the rate of increase of the age-specific rates among males born from 1896 through 1941. Among females, there was an increasing trend in age-specific incidence rates from the 1896 through the 1931 birth cohorts. The female age-specific rates were roughly stable from the 1931 birth cohort through the 1951 birth cohort. The age-specific trend among females diagnosed at age 40-44 years was influenced by relatively large standard errors for each birth-cohort-specific rate. Therefore, the rapid increase in the incidence rate from the 1951 birth cohort through the 1956 birth cohort only suggests that an acceleration in HCC incidence rates occurred between these two birth cohorts.

In terms of HCC mortality trends by birth cohort, among males, age-specific mortality rates increased from the 1896 through the 1931 birth cohorts. And despite an

increasing trend in age-specific incidence from the 1896 through the 1956 birth cohorts, male age-specific mortality rates were stable from the 1931 birth cohort through the 1946 birth cohort. Age-specific mortality rates increased among those born in the more recent birth cohorts (1951 and 1956) compared to those born from 1931 through 1946.

Among females, age-specific mortality rates were roughly stable from the 1896 birth-cohort through to around the 1936 birth cohort. There was a sharp decline in agespecific HCC mortality rates among females born from 1936 through 1946. The mortality rates in the more recent female birth cohorts suggest that an acceleration in agespecific mortality occurred among those born from 1946 through 1951.

#### **D.** Age-cohort model

The HCC cases and HCC deaths from 1976 through 2000 were fit (separately for males and females) with Poisson regression models that considered the effects of age and cohort of birth. The age-cohort models compared the risk for HCC for birth-cohorts from 1892-1900 through 1952-1960 relative to the 1912-1920 birth-cohort, accounting for age (5-year group) (114). Appendix I shows the results of the age-cohort model of the incident HCC cases from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000 for males and females. The results of the age-cohort model show the estimated birth-cohort relative incidence rates for HCC (relative to the 1912-1920 birth-cohort) and the estimated age-specific incidence rates for the 1912-1920 birth-cohort, by sex.

If the age-cohort models were true (ie. if the age and cohort effects explained the variance in the incidence and mortality rates from 1976 through 2000, by sex) then the standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from the age-cohort models would be approximately normally distributed with a mean equal to zero and a standard deviation

equal 0.90 (ie. standard deviation =  $\sqrt{[(A-1) (C-1)/(AC)]}$ , where A is the degrees of freedom for the age-groups (8) and C is the degrees of freedom (4) for the birth-cohorts (114)). The degrees of freedom for the birth cohort are not the number of birth-cohorts minus 1 because there are not values for all age-groups and all birth-cohort from 1976-2000. There are age-specific and birth-cohort specific rates for each of the 5 time period from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000. There are 45 standardized residuals per model, one for each possible age-group and birth-cohort combination for the period from 1976 through 2000. A residual value was considered to be an extreme residual if it was greater than or less than two standard deviations from the mean.

The means of the standardized residuals for the incidence and mortality models, for males and females were approximately zero. Assuming the standard deviation of the standardized residuals was equal to 0.90, an extreme residual was greater than 1.8 (i.e. 2\*0.90) or less than -1.8. For the incidence data, among males and females, the standardized residuals are approximately evenly distributed at all levels of the fitted number of cases (Appendix J.A.), they are approximately normally distributed, but may have slightly heavier than normal tails (Appendix K.A.), and none fell outside of the expected extreme values (i.e. -1.8 to 1.8).

For the mortality data among males, there were 3 standardized residuals greater than 1.8 and 3 standardized residuals less than 1.8 (Appendix J.B.). The standardized residuals for the male deaths show a systematic pattern with less variance at lower values of the fitted number of HCC deaths and greater variance at higher values of the fitted number of HCC deaths. For the mortality data among females, there were 3 standardized residuals greater than 1.8 and 4 standardized residuals less than 1.8. The standardized

residuals for the female deaths do not showed a systematic pattern in the variance at different levels of the fitted numbers of HCC deaths. The distribution of the male and female standardized residuals for the mortality data shows more deviance from normality than the incidence data, but the distributions can be considered to be approximately normal (Appendix K.B.).

Table 4 and Table 5 show the observed and fitted incidence rates and incident HCC cases for males and females. Appendix L.A. shows a plot of the observed versus the fitted number of incident HCC cases for a given 5-year age-group and 5-year period of diagnosis among males and females aged 40-84 in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000. Not surprisingly, given the characteristics of the standardized residuals for the incidence data, the magnitude of the difference between the observed and expected HCC cases is small. Therefore, the variance in the incidence rates among males and females from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000 is explained well by age and birth-cohort effects.

Figure 5 compares the magnitude of the birth-cohort effects for males and females diagnosed from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000, accounting for age. There was an increasing trend in the risk for HCC with successive birth-cohorts from 1896 through 1931 among both males and females relative to the 1916 birth-cohort. The increasing trend in HCC risk continued for males through 1941 and then the risk for HCC accelerated: there was sharp increase in HCC risk with each successive birth-cohort from 1941 through 1956. In contrast, among females the risk for HCC was stable from 1931 through 1951, and then from the 1951 through the 1956 birth-cohort there is a suggestion of a sharp increase in the risk for HCC.

The characteristics of the standardized residuals for the mortality data provide evidence that the age-cohort model is as good a fit for the mortality data, among males and females, compared to the fit for the incidence data. Appendix M and Appendix N show the observed and fitted mortality rates and the number of HCC deaths for males and females. Appendix L.B. shows a plot of the observed versus the fitted number of HCC deaths for a given 5-year age-group and 5-year period of diagnosis among males and females aged 40-84 in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000. These tables show that there is a greater magnitude of difference between the observed and fitted HCC deaths compared to the incidence data. Therefore, the variance in the mortality data among males and females from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000 is only partly explained by the age and birth-cohort effects during this time period.

# E. Projected incidence rates and projected number of HCC cases from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015.

Appendix O and Appendix P show the projected age-specific HCC incidence rates among males (Appendix O) and females (Appendix P) for the 1961, 1966, and 1971 birth-cohorts based on the age-cohort models of male and female incident HCC cases from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000. Among males the risk for HCC for the 1961, 1966, and 1971 birth cohorts was assumed to be the same as the risk for HCC in the 1956 birth cohort (RR = 5.29), and among females the risk for these birth-cohorts was assumed to be the average of the 1951 (RR = 2.00) and 1956 birth-cohorts (RR = 2.66), that is RR = 2.33.

The projected age-adjusted incidence rates for males and females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015 are shown in Table 6 and Figure 6.

Among males, assuming the risk for HCC in the three birth-cohorts after the 1956 birthcohort is the same as the risk for HCC in the 1956 birth-cohort, age-adjusted HCC incidence rates will increase 74% from 10.1 (95% CI = 8.1-12.6) to 17.6 (95% CI = 14.1-22.0) per 100,000 person-years from 1996-2000 through 2011-2015. Overall, among males, this projection shows a 245% increased in age-adjusted HCC incidence rates from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015. Given the assumptions for this projection, the number of HCC cases is projected to increase by approximately 2000 cases from 5641 HCC cases in the five-year period from 2006-2010 to 7672 HCC cases in the subsequent five-year period from 2011-2015. This striking increase in the projected number of HCC cases during the period from 2006-2010 relative to the period from 2011-2015 reflects, in part, the combined influences of an aging Canadian population and a strong positive relation between age and the risk for HCC.

Among females, assuming the risk for HCC in the three birth-cohorts after the 1956 birth-cohort is the same as the average of the risks for HCC in the 1951 and 1956 birth-cohorts, age-adjusted HCC incidence rates will increase 29% from 3.4 (95% CI = 2.7-4.2) to 4.4 (95% CI = 3.5-5.5) per 100,000 person-years from 1996-2000 through 2011-2015. Overall, among females, this projection shows a 100% increase in age-adjusted HCC incidence rates from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

# VI. Discussion

From 1976 through 2000 there was an increasing trend in overall HCC incidence among males and females in Canada. But the increase in HCC incidence was 1.6 times faster in males compared to females during this period (1976 through 2000). There was an increasing trend in overall mortality from HCC among males but the trend was stable

among females from 1976 through 2000. Within each sex a roughly uniform increase in the age-specific risk for HCC occurred from 1976 through 2000, but a slightly greater increase occurred in the 65-74 year age group relative to the other age groups. Assuming the trend in the age-adjusted risk for HCC is stable from the 1956 through the 1971 birth-cohorts, age-adjusted HCC incidence in Canada is projected to continue increasing from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015.

ElSaadany and colleagues also evaluated HCC incidence in Canada from 1967 through 1997 and HCC mortality in Canada from 1967 through 1998 (17). And similarly to the results from the study by ElSaadany and colleagues (17), the results from this study show an increasing trend in age-adjusted HCC incidence in Canada from 1976 through 1997. Both studies also show that age-adjusted HCC mortality increased among males during this period but remained stable among females. The data from 1998, 1999, and 2000 (that were not included in the HCC incidence estimates in the study by ElSaadany (17)) show a continued increasing trend in age-adjusted HCC incidence among males and females. And the data from 1999 and 2000 (that were not included in the HCC mortality estimates in the study by ElSaadany (17)) show a continued increasing trend in ageadjusted HCC mortality among males and a continued stable trend in age-adjusted HCC mortality among females.

The annual numbers of HCC cases in Canada from 1976 through 1997 that were observed in the present study are similar in the annual numbers of HCC cases in Canada that were observed by ElSaadany for the same period (1976 through 1997) (the annual number of HCC cases that were observed in the study by ElSaadany (17) are presented using a bar chart with a range from zero to 700 cases and therefore the exact number of

HCC cases are difficult to determine but they can be easily approximated from this chart). As well, the annual numbers of deaths from HCC in Canada from 1976 through 1998 are similar in the current study compared to the study by ElSaadany (17). Both studies obtained the annual number of HCC cases from the Canadian Cancer Registry and both studies obtained the annual number of HCC deaths from the Vital Statistics and Disease Registries Section of the Health Division of Statistics Canada. Both studies also identified HCC cases and HCC deaths using the ICD-9 code 155.0 (or ICD code equivalent to ICD-9 155.0) (17). Despite similar numbers of annual HCC cases and annual HCC deaths in these two studies, both studies used different, but overlapping, populations at risk for HCC. The current study only considered persons 20 years of age and older to be at risk for the development of HCC and the ElSaadany study considered persons aged zero years and older to be at risk for the development of HCC (17). As a result the annual age-adjusted HCC incidence rates and mortality rates are different in the current study compared to the ElSaadany study (both studies used the 1991 Canadian population and the method of direct standardization to calculate the age-adjusted rates). The age-adjusted rates in the study by ElSaadany are lower compared to the current study (e.g. age-adjusted male HCC incidence in Canada for 1997 was 4.5 per 100,000 males in the ElSaadany study compared to 5.6 per 100,000 males in the current study (Appendix A)). This occurred because the numbers of HCC cases and HCC deaths among persons less than 20 years of age are so low, (as shown by similar numbers of HCC cases and HCC deaths among persons zero years and older compared to persons 20 years and older), so the only difference in the calculation of the annual age-adjusted rates between the two studies was the size of the overall denominator (i.e. the population at risk for

HCC). The current study had a smaller overall denominator compared to the study by ElSaadany. It is probable that the current study provides better estimates of the true (age-adjusted) annual risks for the development of HCC and for death from HCC because persons under 20 years of age in Canada are likely not at risk for the development of HCC. In Canada in 2000, among persons 0-14 years of age, the incidence of HBV and HCV was less than 1 case per 100,000 population (117) and the time period from HBV or HCV infection to the development of HCC is often more than one decade (34).

Another problem with considering persons less than 20 years of age to be at risk for the development of HCC is that the rare childhood cancer, hepatoblastoma, is also coded by the ICD-9 code 155.0. Theoretically, the risk estimates presented in the ElSaadany study are a mixture of the risk for hepatoblastoma and for HCC. While the impact of including hepatoblastoma cases is probably minimal, the risk estimates in the current study are less likely to include hepatoblastoma cases because children were excluded from the analysis.

Among males, the greatest increase in HCC incidence from 1976 through 2000 occurred among those aged 20-49 years, 50-64 years and 65-74 years and the smallest increase occurred among those aged 75 years or older. Among females the greatest increase in HCC incidence occurred among those aged 50-64 years and the smallest increase occurred among those aged 20-49 years and 75 years or older. Temporal trends in age-specific HCC incidence and mortality in Canada were not described in the ElSaadany study (17) and have not been described in any previously published paper. The trends in the age-specific risks for HCC in Canada from 1976 through 2000 are roughly similar to those observed in the U.S. during a similar time period. In the U.S.,

from 1981-1985 through 1991-1995 among both males and females aged 20 years and older, the greatest increased in HCC incidence occurred in those aged 40-79 years (14). Comparing similar time periods in France, among males aged 30 years and older, the greatest increase in HCC incidence occurred in those aged 55-74 years and there was no increase in HCC incidence among females (10).

There is a consistent finding among published studies (including the previous Canadian study by ElSaadany (17)) that examined recent trends in HCC incidence: in a given population the rate of increase in HCC incidence is greater for males compared to females (8;10;13-15;17). In this study the annual rate of increase in HCC incidence from 1976 through 2000 was 62% greater among males in Canada compared to females in Canada, 3.4% per year (95% CI = 3.1%-3.8% per year) versus 2.1% per year (95% CI = 1.5%-2.8% per year), respectively.

The study by ElSaadany found the annual rate of increase in HCC incidence from 1969 through 1997 was 183% greater among males compared to females, 3.4% per year versus 1.2% per year (17). But these rates of can not be compared to the rates of change reported in the current study because in each study the average annual rates of change were estimated for different time periods:1969 through 1997 in the ElSaadany study (17) and 1976 through 2000 in the current study. The method currently used to detect HCC, serum alpha-fetoprotein and ultrasonography, started to be routinely used for the detection of HCC in the late 1970s (20) or early 1980s (9;14). The current study provides an estimate of the rate of change during a period when a uniform method for HCC detection was used and the ElSaadany study provides an estimate of the rate of change during a period when the detection of the rate of change during a period when the detection of the rate of

rate of change between males and females in the ElSaadany study is valid and this comparison shows that HCC incidence increased more rapidly among males compared to females during the period from 1969 through 1997.

It remains unclear why HCC incidence has increased more rapidly among males compared to females in recent decades in Canada and other developed countries. But data from Canada show the risk for HBV infections increased more rapidly in males compared to females from 1980 through 1990 (118) and the risk of death from non-A non-B hepatitis (considered a proxy for the risk of death from HCV (119)) also increased more rapidly in males compared to females during this period (119).

The disparity between HCC incidence and mortality increased more rapidly during the period of observation (from 1976 through 2000) among females in Canada compared to males in Canada. The proportional percent difference between HCC incidence and mortality among females increased from a 40% difference in 1976-1980 to a 100% difference in 1996-2000, compared to an increase among males from a 27% difference in 1976-1980 to a 45% difference in 1996-2000. In other words, survival from HCC likely increased in both males and females in Canada from 1976 through 2000 and the increase was likely greater for females compared to males. Data from the U.S. Surveillance and Epidemiology and End Results program (SEER) show an increase in short-term relative survival from HCC from 1976 through 2000 in the U.S., and little change in relative survival beyond five years (120). From 1975-1979 compared to 1992-1996 one-year relative survival from HCC increased from 14% to 23%, three-year relative survival increased from 5% to 9% and five-year relative survival increased only slightly from 4% to 7% (120). Survival from HCC was only slightly greater among

females compared to males in the U.S., for example, among those diagnosed from 1992-1996, the relative probabilities of surviving beyond one-year, three-years and five-years for females compared to males were, 26% versus 22%, 10% versus 9% and 7% versus 6%, respectively (120).

Better survival from HCC among females compared to males was observed in countries other than the U.S. including China, Japan and Thailand (121). A study in Thailand of 260 male and 39 female HCC patients showed the median survival time among the male and female patients was 4 months and 14 months respectively. The female patients were more likely to have a less advanced stage and were less likely to have hepatic or portal venous invasion at the time of the initial diagnosis compared to the male patients (121).

To date, two other studies have considered the influence of birth cohorts on HCC incidence trends and presented these results in published papers. Based on U.S. data from 1973 through 1995, age-specific incidence rates for HCC were compared graphically for birth cohorts from 1888 through 1958 for persons aged 40-44 years through 80-84 years. (The age-specific rates among persons less then 40 years of age were also plotted by birth cohort, but the rates were low (less than 0.2 per 100,000 population) and were considered unstable.) From the 1888 through the 1958 birth cohorts the age-specific risk for HCC increased in successive birth cohorts. This analysis was not stratified by sex.

Based on data from France from 1976-1979 through 1992-1995, and accounting simultaneously for the influence of age, period of diagnosis, and birth-cohort, the lifetime risk for HCC was 0.82% in the 1906 birth-cohort, 1.1% in the 1916 birth-cohort, 1.4% in

the 1926 birth-cohort and 2.1% in the 1936 birth-cohort (10). This analysis was not stratified by sex.

Because of the relation between birth-cohort, age at diagnosis, and period of diagnosis (i.e. any two of these variables perfectly predict the third variable), a single model that simultaneously accounts for these three factors can not estimate the effects for all three of these variables. To avoid this problem a constraint may be applied to an age-period-cohort model, but the model under this constraint does not provide a unique set of estimates for the effect of age, period, and cohort of birth, that is, an infinite number of estimates for these parameters are possible under this constraint (122). The incidence of HCC in Canada from 1976 through 2000 was fit well by an age-cohort model and thus, in this study, the problem of using regression analysis to model the effect of three factors (age, period of diagnosis, and birth-cohort) that are linearly dependent (i.e. any two of these factors perfectly predict the third) (114;123) was avoided.

This study is the first to show the influence of birth-cohort on HCC incidence trends in Canada. Among males aged 40-84 years from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000, the risk for HCC increased in successive birth-cohorts from 1886 through 1956 relative to the risk for HCC in the 1916 birth-cohort. There was a striking increase in the relative risk for HCC among males born from 1941 through 1956 compared to the increase in the relative risk for HCC among males born from 1896 through 1941. In contrast, among females, the relative risk for HCC from the 1931 through the 1951 birth-cohort was stable compared to the increase in the relative risk for HCC from the 1931 through the 1951 birth-cohort mass table through 1931 birth-cohort. Among males and females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976 through 2000, the greatest risk for HCC (relative to the risk for HCC in the 1916 birth-

cohort) occurred among those born in the most recent birth-cohort (1956). Accounting for age, the relative risk for HCC (the 1916 birth-cohort was the reference group) in the 1956 birth-cohort was RR = 5.3 (95% CI = 4.7-6.0) among males, and RR = 2.7 (95% CI = 2.1-3.3) among females.

The variance in the HCC mortality rates from 1976 through 2000 was not explained as well as the variance in the HCC incidence rates by age and birth-cohort factors. But Appendices M and N show that nonetheless HCC deaths for a given agegroup and birth-cohort are predicted reasonably well by the age-cohort model. Because it is plausible that an increase in short-term HCC survival occurred during the period of observation (1976 through 2000), the variance in the mortality rates may have been influence by period effects (for example, a period effect may occur if there is an improvement in HCC treatment that decreases the risk for death from HCC among all age-groups in a given time period) in addition to age and birth-cohort effects. On the other hand if the improvement in HCC treatment had a different effect on different agegroups, the trends in the risk of death from HCC may still be explained well by an agecohort model.

Interpretations of the trends in HCC mortality in Canada from 1976 through 2000, based on the results from this study, require some caution because of the source of the mortality data. The HCC mortality data is from the underlying cause of death reported on death certificates. Liver cancer is particular susceptible to misclassification on death certificates because it is a secondary site for several cancers including those of the colon, rectum, pancreas, lung, and breast (124). Among all HCC deaths in the U.S. SEER registry from 1973 through 1985, compared to the original diagnosis in the patient's

medical records or to the pathology reports, liver cancer was incorrectly reported as the underlying cause of death on the death certificates of 507 of the 2,977 (17%) deaths (124). All 507 deaths that were misclassified as deaths from HCC (reported as the underlying causes of death on the death certificates) had a primary site for cancer (based on the hospital records) that was not the liver (124). But death from HCC may also be underestimated based on the underlying cause of death on death certificates. Among all 3,220 deaths from liver cancer in the U.S. SEER registry, from 1973 through 1985, that were not specified as primary HCC or secondary HCC (ICD-8: 197.8 or ICD-9: 155.2), 1,185 (37%) had an HCC diagnosis based on the patient's medical records or the hospital pathology reports (124). Thus misclassification of cause of death may have obscured the underlying trends in HCC mortality.

The incidence of HCC in Canada is projected from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015. The projection assumes that relative to the 1916 birth-cohort, the risk for HCC that occurred in the most recent birth-cohort (1956) among males aged 40-84 years at diagnosis from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000 is the peak relative risk for HCC for all birth-cohorts for males aged 40-84 years at diagnosis for the period from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015. Among females, the projection assumes that relative to the 1916 birth-cohort, the average of the risks for the two most recent birth-cohorts (1951 and 1956), among those aged 40-84 years at diagnosis from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000, is the peak relative risk for HCC for all birth-cohorts for females aged 40-84 years at diagnosis for the period from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

The projections show a nearly 4-fold increase in the age-adjusted risk for HCC among males aged 40-84 years from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015, 5.1 (95% CI = 4.1 - 10% C)

6.4) compared to 17.6 (95% CI = 14.1-22.0) cases per 100,000 person-years, and a nearly doubling of the risk from 1996-2000 through 2011-2015. Among females the projections show a doubling of the age-adjusted risk for HCC from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015, from 2.2 (95% CI = 1.8-2.8) to 4.4 (95% CI = 3.5-5.5) cases per 100,000 person-years, and a 1.3 fold increased risk from 1996-2000 through 2011-2015.

The age-adjusted incidence of HBV in Canada increased five-fold from 1980 through 1995 (125). This increasing trend changed after 1995. From 1995 through 2000 the age-adjusted risk for HBV infection decreased 2.5-fold from 10 to 4 cases per 100,000 population (126). Starting in the early 1990's provinces and territories in Canada began to include the HBV vaccine as part of the publicly funded childhood immunization programs (127). And in 2004, all provinces and territories included HBV as part of their publicly funded childhood immunization programs (128).

There was little change in the age-adjusted mortality rates from non-A, non-B hepatitis in Canada from 1980 through 1990, the rates ranged from 0.09 in 1990 to 0.17 in 1987 (129). But from 1990 through 1998 age-adjusted mortality rates from non-A, non-B hepatitis increased nearly four fold from 0.12 to 0.55 cases per 100,000 population (130). In the early 1990's there was a rapid increase in age-adjusted HCV incidence rates in Canada (131). This increase in HCV incidence was influenced by widespread use of a new method for detecting HCV in the population. But only considering the period from 1995 through 1999 the age-adjusted incidence of HCV infection increased from 47 to 61 cases per 100,000 population (132). There is currently no vaccine for HCV (24).

If HBV vaccinations in Canada cause a decreasing trend in HBV incidence for the period from 2001 through 2015, and if the increasing risk for HCC in more recent

compared to earlier birth-cohorts was driven by HBV trends over the last two decades, the HCC incidence projections for 2001-2005 through 2011-2015 may overestimate HCC incidence because the projection was based the risk for HCC in the most recent birthcohorts.

On the other hand, if the risk for HCC observed in the most recent birth-cohorts were driven by HCV trends over the last two decades, the projections may be conservative because the risks for HCC in the 1961, 1966, and 1971 birth cohorts (the projection birth-cohorts) may be greater than the risk in the1956 birth-cohort (the most recent birth-cohort observed in the current study). There was an increase in HCV incidence in Canada among persons less than 40 years of age from the mid-1990s to the late 1990s compared to the early 1990s to mid 1990s (133). Persons aged less than 40 years in the period from 1996 through 2000 were not included in the calculation of the HCC risk estimates for the most recent birth-cohort but these persons are part of the projection birth cohorts.

It is also possible that the increasing risk for HCC in earlier birth-cohorts was driven by an increasing risk for HBV in these earlier birth-cohorts and that the increasing risk for HCC in more recent birth-cohorts (and maybe future) birth-cohorts was (or will be) driven by an increased risk for HCV in these birth-cohorts.

Health care providers and allocators of health care resources need to be aware of the projected increasing burden of HCC in Canada because HCC patients may be eligible for treatment with anti-cancer therapies, they may develop complications (such as ascites [excessive fluid in the peritoneal cavity] and encephalopathy) that require hospitalization

(134), and assuming current treatment options they will likely require palliative care at the end stages of the disease.

## **VII. Future Research**

The cause of the increasing trend in HCC incidence in developed countries is not known. A plausible explanation is that the increase was caused by an increase in the incidence of HBV and HCV infections that occurred over the last three decades in many developed countries. A U.S. study showed that the proportion of HCC patients referred to the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center that were positive for anti-HCV antibodies increased from 18% to 31% from 1993 through 1995 compared to from 1996 through 1998 (135). The proportion of patients with HBsAg-associated HCC decreased from 26% to 17% from 1993 through 1995 compared to from 1996 through 1998, and the proportion of patients with neither viral marker remained stable during this period. Population-based studies of HCC trends stratified by the presence of the underlying risk factor(s) are needed to evaluate the cause of the increasing HCC trends. It is likely that this type of study has not been done to date because of the difficulty in obtaining individual level risk factor information for persons diagnosed in the past with HCC because most HCC patients have died.

Another possible reason for the increasing trend in HCC incidence in developed countries is the concurrent increase in immigration from Southeast Asian countries that occurred in many developed countries. In Canada, the annual proportion of immigrants from Asia increased from 20% in 1970 to 60% in 2000 (136). Examining temporal HCC incidence trends by country of birth is an important topic for future research because the results of such an analysis are needed for the evaluation of whether or not HCC

prevention efforts should be targeted toward immigrants. A recent study from a single hospital in the U.S. found the percentage of patients diagnosed with HCC that were immigrants decreased from 46% (19/41) in 1992 through 1996 to 24% (17/70) from 1997 through 2001 (137). To date, no study of a temporal trend in the proportion of HCC cases in Canada that are immigrants is published.

#### VIII. Summary

Using data from the Canadian Cancer Registry and from the Vital Statistics and Disease Registries Section of the Health Statistics Division of Statistics Canada HCC incidence and mortality rates were calculated by age and sex for the period from 1976 through 2000. Among males the age-adjusted incidence of HCC increased 3.4% per year from 2.8 to 5.5 cases per 100,000 person-years and age-adjusted mortality increased 1.4% per year from 2.2 to 3.0 deaths per 100,000 person-years from 1976 through 1980 relative to 1996 through 2000. Among females the age-adjusted incidence of HCC increased 2.1% per year from 1.4 to 2.0 cases per 100,000 person-years and age-adjusted mortality was stable at 1.0 death per 100,000 person-years from 1976 through 1980 relative to 1996 through 2000. The increase in HCC incidence was similar for all age groups within each sex. The risk for HCC increased in successive birth-cohorts from 1896 through 1956 relative to the 1916 birth-cohort. Among males born in the 1956 birth-cohort the risk for HCC was 5.3 (95% CI = 4.7-6.0) times the risk for HCC among males born in the 1916 birth-cohort. Among females born in the 1956 birth-cohort the risk for HCC was 2.7 (95% CI = 2.1-3.3) times the risk for HCC among females born in the 1916 birth-cohort. Based on an age-cohort model, and assuming no further increase in the risk for HCC in the three birth cohorts after the 1956 birth cohort, the age-adjusted incidence of HCC

among males aged 40-84 years is projected to increase 74% from 10.1 to 17.6 cases per 100,000 persons-years from 1996 through 2000 relative to 2011 through 2015. And among females aged 40-84 years, the age-adjusted incidence of HCC is projected to increase 29% from 3.4 to 4.4 cases per 100,000 person-years from 1996 through 2000 relative to 2011 through 2015. Future descriptive studies of temporal HCC trends in Canada should examine whether the proportion of HCC cases that are immigrants has changed over the period of observation.

# Reference List

- (1) Parkin DM. Global cancer statistics in the year 2000. Lancet Oncol 2001; 2(9):533-543.
- (2) Parkin DM, Whelan SL, Ferlay J, Raymond L, Young J. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents Vol. VII. Lyon: IARC Scientific Publications No. 143, 1997.
- (3) London WT, McGlynn K. Liver Cancer. In: Schottenfeld D, Fraumeni JFJ, editors. Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention. New York: Oxford University Press, 1997: 772-793.
- (4) el Serag HB. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Liver Dis 2001; 5(1):87-107, vi.
- (5) Engstrom PF, Sigurdson E, Evans AA. Primary Neoplasms of the Liver. In: Bast RC, Kufe WR, Pollock RE, Weichselbaum RR, Holland JF, Frei E, editors. Cancer Medicine. London: B.C. Decker Inc, 2000: 1398-1401.
- (6) Kiyosawa K, Tanaka E. Characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in Japan. Oncology 2002; 62 Suppl 1:5-7.
- (7) Yoshizawa H. Hepatocellular carcinoma associated with hepatitis C virus infection in Japan: projection to other countries in the foreseeable future. Oncology 2002; 62 Suppl 1:8-17.
- (8) Taylor-Robinson SD, Foster GR, Arora S, Hargreaves S, Thomas HC. Increase in primary liver cancer in the UK, 1979-94. Lancet 1997; 350(9085):1142-1143.
- (9) Deuffic S, Poynard T, Buffat L, Valleron AJ. Trends in primary liver cancer. Lancet 1998; 351(9097):214-215.
- (10) Benhamiche AM, Faivre C, Minello A, Clinard F, Mitry E, Hillon P et al. Time trends and age-period-cohort effects on the incidence of primary liver cancer in a well-defined French population: 1976-1995. J Hepatol 1998; 29(5):802-806.
- (11) Marinho R, Giria J, Carneiro DM. Rising hospital admissions and mortality from hepatocellular carcinoma in Portugal. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2000; 24(6-7):680-681.
- (12) La Vecchia C, Lucchini F, Franceschi S, Negri E, Levi F. Trends in mortality from primary liver cancer in Europe. Eur J Cancer 2000; 36(7):909-915.
- (13) Law MG, Roberts SK, Dore GJ, Kaldor JM. Primary hepatocellular carcinoma in Australia, 1978-1997: increasing incidence and mortality. Med J Aust 2000; 173(8):403-405.

- (14) el Serag HB, Mason AC. Rising incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(10):745-750.
- (15) el Serag HB, Davila JA, Petersen NJ, McGlynn KA. The continuing increase in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: an update. Ann Intern Med 2003; 139(10):817-823.
- (16) Nair S, Shiva KK, Thuluvath PJ, Shivakumar KS. Mortality from hepatocellular and biliary cancers: changing epidemiological trends. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97(1):167-171.
- (17) elSaadany S, Tepper M, Mao Y, Semenciw R, Giulivi A. An epidemiologic study of hepatocellular carcinoma in Canada. Can J Public Health 2002; 93(6):443-446.
- (18) Hennekens CH, Buring JE. Epidemiology in Medicine. 1 ed. Toronto: Little, Brown and Company, 1987.
- (19) Llovet JM, Burroughs A, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2003; 362(9399):1907-1917.
- (20) McGlynn KA, Tsao L, Hsing AW, Devesa SS, Fraumeni JF, Jr. International trends and patterns of primary liver cancer. Int J Cancer 2001; 94(2):290-296.
- (21) Jemal A, Tiwari RC, Murray T, Ghafoor A, Samuels A, Ward E et al. Cancer statistics, 2004. CA Cancer J Clin 2004; 54(1):8-29.
- (22) Holford TR. Temporal Factors in Public Health Surveillance: Sorting out Age, Period, and Cohort Effects. In: Brookmeyer R, Stroup D, editors. Monitoring The Health of Populations. New York: Oxford University Press, 2004: 99-126.
- (23) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (24) Cheney CP, Chopra S, Graham C. Hepatitis C. Infect Dis Clin North Am 2000; 14(3):633-667.
- (25) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (26) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (27) Sung MW, Thung SN, Acs G. Hepatitis Viruses. In: Bast RC, Kufe WR, Pollock RE, Weichselbaum RR, Holland JF, Frei E, editors. Cancer Medicine. London: B.C. Decker Inc, 2000: 266-276.
- (28) McGregor M. The hepatitis C disaster. CMAJ 1998; 158(11):1461-1462.

- (29) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (30) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (31) Carr BI, Flickinger JC, Lotze MT. Hepatobiliary Cancers. In: DeVita DV, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, editors. Cancer. Principles and Practice of Oncology. Philidelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997: 1087-1114.
- (32) International classification of diseases: manual of the international statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and causes of death. 8th revision ed. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1967.
- (33) International classification of diseases: manual of the international statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and causes of death. 9th revision ed. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1977.
- (34) Colombo M. Hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 1992; 15(1-2):225-236.
- (35) Simonetti RG, Camma C, Fiorello F, Politi F, D'Amico G, Pagliaro L. Hepatocellular carcinoma. A worldwide problem and the major risk factors. Dig Dis Sci 1991; 36(7):962-972.
- (36) Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Lin CC, Chien CS. Hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis B virus. A prospective study of 22 707 men in Taiwan. Lancet 1981; 2(8256):1129-1133.
- (37) Iijima T, Saitoh N, Nobutomo K, Nambu M, Sakuma K. A prosepective cohort study of Hepatitis B surface antigen carriers in a working population. Gann 1984; 75(7):571-573.
- (38) McMahon BJ, Alberts SR, Wainwright RB, Bulkow L, Lanier AP. Hepatitis Brelated sequelae. Prospective study in 1400 hepatitis B surface antigen-positive Alaska native carriers. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150(5):1051-1054.
- (39) Evans AA, Chen G, Ross EA, Shen FM, Lin WY, London WT. Eight-year follow-up of the 90,000-person Haimen City cohort: I. Hepatocellular carcinoma mortality, risk factors, and gender differences. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2002; 11(4):369-376.
- (40) Beasley RP. Hepatitis B virus. The major etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 1988; 61(10):1942-1956.
- (41) Evans AA, London WT. Epidemiology of Hepatitis B. In: Zuckerman AJ, Thomas HC, editors. Viral Hepatitis. Hong Kong: Churchill Livingstone, 1998: 107-114.

- (42) Edmunds WJ, Medley GF, Nokes DJ, Hall AJ, Whittle HC. The influence of age on the development of the hepatitis B carrier state. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1993; 253(1337):197-201.
- (43) Wild C, Hall AJ. Hepatitis B virus and Liver Cancer: Unanswered Questions. In: Newton R, Beral V, Weiss R, editors. Infections and Human Cancer. Imperial Cancer Research Fund: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1999: 35-54.
- (44) Centers for Disease Control. Changing patterns of Groups at High Risk for Hepatitis B in the United States. MMWR 1988; 37(28):429-432.
- (45) Chang MH. Natural history of hepatitis B virus infection in children. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2000; 15 Suppl:E16-E19.
- (46) Kew MC. Hepatocellular Carcinoma. In: Goedert JJ, editor. Infectious Causes of Cancer: Targets for Intervention. Totowa,NJ: Humana Press Inc., 2000: 331-347.
- (47) Kew M. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Clinics in Liver Disease 2000; 4(1):257-268.
- (48) Robinson WS. Hepatitis B Virus and Hepatocellular Carcinoma. In: Parsonnet J, editor. Microbes and Malignancy. Infection as cause of human cancers. New York: Oxford University Press, 1999: 232-266.
- (49) Mueller NE, Evans AS, London TW. Viruses. In: Schottenfeld D, Fraumeni JFJ, editors. Cancer Prevention and Epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press, 1997: 502-531.
- (50) Stroffolini T, Andreone P, Andriulli A, Ascione A, Craxi A, Chiaramonte M et al. Characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in Italy. J Hepatol 1998; 29(6):944-952.
- (51) Brechot C, Hadchouel M, Scotto J, Fonck M, Potet F, Vyas GN et al. State of hepatitis B virus DNA in hepatocytes of patients with hepatitis B surface antigen-positive and -negative liver diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1981; 78(6):3906-3910.
- (52) Matsubara K, Tokino T. Integration of hepatitis B virus DNA and its implications for hepatocarcinogenesis. Mol Biol Med 1990; 7(3):243-260.
- (53) Kew MC. Hepatitis B and C viruses and hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Lab Med 1996; 16(2):395-406.
- (54) Popper H, Roth L, Purcell RH, Tennant BC, Gerin JL. Hepatocarcinogenicity of the woodchuck hepatitis virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987; 84(3):866-870.

- (55) Kiyosawa K, Sodeyama T, Tanaka E, Gibo Y, Yoshizawa K, Nakano Y et al. Interrelationship of blood transfusion, non-A, non-B hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma: analysis by detection of antibody to hepatitis C virus. Hepatology 1990; 12(4 Pt 1):671-675.
- (56) Bruix J, Barrera JM, Calvet X, Ercilla G, Costa J, Sanchez-Tapias JM et al. Prevalence of antibodies to hepatitis C virus in Spanish patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatic cirrhosis. Lancet 1989; 2(8670):1004-1006.
- (57) Kew MC, Houghton M, Choo QL, Kuo G. Hepatitis C virus antibodies in southern African blacks with hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 1990; 335(8694):873-874.
- (58) Colombo M, Kuo G, Choo QL, Donato MF, Del Ninno E, Tommasini MA et al. Prevalence of antibodies to hepatitis C virus in Italian patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 1989; 2(8670):1006-1008.
- (59) Kew MC, Yu MC, Kedda MA, Coppin A, Sarkin A, Hodkinson J. The relative roles of hepatitis B and C viruses in the etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in southern African blacks. Gastroenterology 1997; 112(1):184-187.
- (60) Colombo M. Hepatitis C virus and hepatocellular carcinoma. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 1999; 13(4):519-528.
- (61) Donato F, Boffetta P, Puoti M. A meta-analysis of epidemiological studies on the combined effect of hepatitis B and C virus infections in causing hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer 1998; 75(3):347-354.
- (62) Tsukuma H, Hiyama T, Tanaka S, Nakao M, Yabuuchi T, Kitamura T et al. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma among patients with chronic liver disease. N Engl J Med 1993; 328(25):1797-1801.
- (63) Takano S, Yokosuka O, Imazeki F, Tagawa M, Omata M. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis B and C: a prospective study of 251 patients. Hepatology 1995; 21(3):650-655.
- (64) Mori M, Hara M, Wada I, Hara T, Yamamoto K, Honda M et al. Prospective study of hepatitis B and C viral infections, cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and other factors associated with hepatocellular carcinoma risk in Japan. Am J Epidemiol 2000; 151(2):131-139.
- (65) Tradati F, Colombo M, Mannucci PM, Rumi MG, De Fazio C, Gamba G et al. A prospective multicenter study of hepatocellular carcinoma in italian hemophiliacs with chronic hepatitis C. The Study Group of the Association of Italian Hemophilia Centers. Blood 1998; 91(4):1173-1177.

- (66) Tong MJ, El Farra NS, Reikes AR, Co RL. Clinical outcomes after transfusionassociated hepatitis C. N Engl J Med 1995; 332(22):1463-1466.
- (67) Centers for Disease Control. Recommendations for prevention and control of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection and HCV-related chronic disease. MMWR 1998; 47(RR19):1-39.
- (68) Quer J, Esteban IJ. Section IV- Hepatitis C Virus: Epidemiology. In: Zuckerman AJ, Thomas HC, editors. Viral Hepatitis. Hong Kong: Churchill Livingstone, 1998: 271-283.
- (69) Callum JL, Pinkerton PH, Coovadia AS, Thomson AE, Dewsbury F. An evaluation of the process and costs associated with targeted lookbacks for HCV and general notification of transfusion recipients. Transfusion 2000; 40(10):1169-1175.
- (70) Lauer GM, Walker BD. Hepatitis C virus infection. N Engl J Med 2001; 345(1):41-52.
- (71) De Mitri MS, Poussin K, Baccarini P, Pontisso P, D'Errico A, Simon N et al. HCV-associated liver cancer without cirrhosis. Lancet 1995; 345(8947):413-415.
- (72) Okuda K. Natural History of Chronic Hepatitis C and Hepatocellular Carcinoma. In: Zuckerman AJ, Thomas HC, editors. Viral Hepatitis. Hong Kong: Churchill Livingstone, 1998: 309-318.
- (73) Donato F, Tagger A, Gelatti U, Parrinello G, Boffetta P, Albertini A et al. Alcohol and hepatocellular carcinoma: the effect of lifetime intake and hepatitis virus infections in men and women. American Journal of Epidemiology 2002; 155(4):323-331.
- (74) International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Alcohol Drinking. Lyon: IARC, 1988.
- (75) Kuper H, Ye W, Broome U, Romelsjo A, Mucci LA, Ekbom A et al. The risk of liver and bile duct cancer in patients with chronic viral hepatitis, alcoholism, or cirrhosis. Hepatology 2001; 34(4):714-718.
- (76) Kew MC. Hepatic Tumors and cysts. In: Feldman M, Sleisenger MH, Scharschmidt BF, editors. Sleisenger's and Fordtrans's Gastrointestinal and Liver Disease. Philadephia: WB Saunders, 1998: 1364-1387.
- (77) Lisker-Melman M, Martin P, Hoofnagle JH. Conditions associated with hepatocellular carcinoma. Med Clin North Am 1989; 73(4):999-1009.

- (78) Gentilini P, Melani L, Riccardi D, Casini R, V, Romanelli RG. Hepatocellular carcinoma and viral cirrhosis. Hepatology 1994; 20(3):764-765.
- (79) Ikeda K, Saitoh S, Koida I, Arase Y, Tsubota A, Chayama K et al. A multivariate analysis of risk factors for hepatocellular carcinogenesis: a prospective observation of 795 patients with viral and alcoholic cirrhosis. Hepatology 1993; 18(1):47-53.
- (80) Yu MW, Cheng SW, Lin MW, Yang SY, Liaw YF, Chang HC et al. Androgenreceptor gene CAG repeats, plasma testosterone levels, and risk of hepatitis Brelated hepatocellular carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000; 92(24):2023-2028.
- (81) Jackson PE, Groopman JD. Aflatoxin and liver cancer. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 1999; 13(4):545-555.
- (82) Montesano R, Hainaut P, Wild CP. Hepatocellular carcinoma: from gene to public health. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997; 89(24):1844-1851.
- (83) Qian GS, Ross RK, Yu MC, Yuan JM, Gao YT, Henderson BE et al. A followup study of urinary markers of aflatoxin exposure and liver cancer risk in Shanghai, People's Republic of China. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1994; 3(1):3-10.
- (84) Ross RK, Yuan JM, Yu MC, Wogan GN, Qian GS, Tu JT et al. Urinary aflatoxin biomarkers and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 1992; 339(8799):943-946.
- (85) Pietrangelo A. Hereditary hemochromatosis--a new look at an old disease. N Engl J Med 2004; 350(23):2383-2397.
- (86) Limdi JK, Crampton JR. Hereditary haemochromatosis. QJM 2004; 97(6):315-324.
- (87) Borgaonkar MR. Hemochromatosis. More common than you think. Can Fam Physician 2003; 49:36-43.
- (88) Fargion S, Fracanzani AL, Piperno A, Braga M, D'Alba R, Ronchi G et al. Prognostic factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in genetic hemochromatosis. Hepatology 1994; 20(6):1426-1431.
- (89) Britto MR, Thomas LA, Balaratnam N, Griffiths AP, Duane PD. Hepatocellular carcinoma arising in non-cirrhotic liver in genetic haemochromatosis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2000; 35(8):889-893.
- (90) Milman N, Pedersen P, Steig T, Byg KE, Graudal N, Fenger K. Clinically overt hereditary hemochromatosis in Denmark 1948-1985: epidemiology, factors of significance for long-term survival, and causes of death in 179 patients. Ann Hematol 2001; 80(12):737-744.

- (91) Niederau C, Fischer R, Purschel A, Stremmel W, Haussinger D, Strohmeyer G. Long-term survival in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Gastroenterology 1996; 110(4):1107-1119.
- (92) Bradbear RA, Bain C, Siskind V, Schofield FD, Webb S, Axelsen EM et al. Cohort study of internal malignancy in genetic hemochromatosis and other chronic nonalcoholic liver diseases. J Natl Cancer Inst 1985; 75(1):81-84.
- (93) Niederau C, Fischer R, Sonnenberg A, Stremmel W, Trampisch HJ, Strohmeyer G. Survival and causes of death in cirrhotic and in noncirrhotic patients with primary hemochromatosis. N Engl J Med 1985; 313(20):1256-1262.
- (94) Brown AS, Gwinn M, Cogswell ME, Khoury MJ. Hemochromatosis-associated morbidity in the United States: an analysis of the National Hospital Discharge Survey, 1979-1997. Genet Med 2001; 3(2):109-111.
- (95) Jin F, Devesa SS, Zheng W, Blot WJ, Fraumeni JF, Jr., Gao YT. Cancer incidence trends in urban Shanghai, 1972-1989. Int J Cancer 1993; 53(5):764-770.
- (96) Akriviadis EA, Llovet JM, Efremidis SC, Shouval D, Canelo R, Ringe B et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Surg 1998; 85(10):1319-1331.
- (97) Chang MH, Chen CJ, Lai M, Hsu H, Wu T, et al. Universal hepatitis B vaccination in Taiwan and the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in Children. The New England Journal of Medicine 1997; 336(26):1855-1859.
- (98) WHO. Global status of hepatitis B immunization policy (March 2002). http://www.who.int/vaccines-surveillance/graphics/htmls/hepb.htm . 2002.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
  - (99) Okuda K, Fujimoto I, Hanai A, Urano Y. Changing incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in Japan. Cancer Res 1987; 47(18):4967-4972.
  - (100) Zou S, Tepper M, El Saadany S. Prediction of hepatitis C burden in Canada. Can J Gastroenterol 2000; 14(7):575-580.
  - (101) Canadian Council of Cancer Registries. The Making of the Canadian Cancer Registry: Cancer Incidence in Canada and its Regions, 1969 to 1988. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1993.
  - (102) Statistics Canada. Causes of Death, Shelf Tables. http://www.statcan.ca:8096/bsolc/english/bsolc?catno=84-208-X.2000.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

(103) Ross JA, Gurney JG. Hepatoblastoma incidence in the United States from 1973 to 1992. Med Pediatr Oncol 1998; 30(3):141-142.
- (104) World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems. 10th revision ed. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1992.
- (105) el Serag HB, Davila JA. Is fibrolamellar carcinoma different from hepatocellular carcinoma? A US population-based study. Hepatology 2004; 39(3):798-803.
- (106) Statistics Canada. Estimates of Population by Marital Status, Age and Sex for Canada, the Provinces and the Territories. <u>http://www.statcan.ca/english/sdds/3605.htm#MethAccuracy</u>. 2001.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
  - (107) Statistics Canada. Differences between Census counts and statistics Canada's population estimates. <u>http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census01/products/standard/popdwell/petrie.cf</u> <u>m</u>. 2002.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
  - (108) Esteve J, Benhmou E, Raymond L. Statistical Methods in Cancer Research. Descriptive Epidemiology. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1994.
  - (109) Kim HJ, Fay MP, Feuer EJ, Midthune DN. Permutation tests for joinpoint regression with applications to cancer rates. Stat Med 2000; 19(3):335-351.
  - (110) Hankey BF, Ries LA, Kosary CL, Feuer EJ, Merrill RM, Clegg LX et al. Partitioning linear trends in age-adjusted rates. Cancer Causes Control 2000; 11(1):31-35.

(111) Statistical Research and Applications Branch of the National Cancer Institute. Joinpoint Regression Program. <u>http://srab.cancer.gov/joinpoint/</u>. 2004.

- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
  - (112) Rothman KJ, Greenland S. Modern Epidemiology. 2 ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1998.
  - (113) Tarone RE, Chu KC, Gaudette LA. Birth cohort and calendar period trends in breast cancer mortality in the United States and Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997; 89(3):251-256.
  - (114) Clayton D, Schifflers E. Models for temporal variation in cancer rates. I: Ageperiod and age-cohort models. Stat Med 1987; 6(4):449-467.
  - (115) Statistics Canada. Population Projections, 200-2026. 2001. Catalogue No. 91-520.

Ref Type: Generic

- (116) Devesa SS, Donaldson J, Fears T. Graphical presentation of trends in rates. Am J Epidemiol 1995; 141(4):300-304.
- (117) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (118) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (119) Pohani G, Zou S, Tepper M. Trends of hepatitis B and hepatitis C mortality in Canada, 1979-1997. Can J Public Health 2001; 92(4):250-254.
- (120) National Cancer Institute. SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975-2001. http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2001.2001.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
  - (121) Tangkijvanich P, Mahachai V, Suwangool P, Poovorawan Y. Gender difference in clinicopathologic features and survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10(11):1547-1550.
  - (122) Bray F, de Vries E. Non-identifiability and the age period cohort model: firm comprehension is an a Priori prerequisite. Ann Epidemiol 2004; 14(4):304-305.
  - (123) Holford TR. Understanding the effects of age, period, and cohort on incidence and mortality rates. Annu Rev Public Health 1991; 12:425-457.
  - (124) Percy C, Stanek E, III, Gloeckler L. Accuracy of cancer death certificates and its effect on cancer mortality statistics. Am J Public Health 1981; 71(3):242-250.
  - (125) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
  - (126) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
  - (127) elSaadany S, Gully P, Giulivi A. Hepatitis A, B, and C in Canada. Results from the National Sentinel Health Unit Surveillance System, 1993-1995. Can J Public Health 2002; 93(6):435-438.
  - (128) Department of Public Health Manitoba Health. Hepatitis B Immunization. http://www.gov.mb.ca/health/publichealth/hep2.html . 2004.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

(129) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.

- (130) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (131) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (132) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (133) Blood-borne pathogens routine surveillance system report. Can Commun Dis Rep 2002; 28 Suppl 2:1-59.
- (134) Varela M, Sala M, Llovet JM, Bruix J. Review article: natural history and prognostic prediction of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003; 17 Suppl 2:98-102.
- (135) Hassan MM, Frome A, Patt YZ, el Serag HB. Rising prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection among patients recently diagnosed with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. J Clin Gastroenterol 2002; 35(3):266-269.
- (136) Statistic Canada. Tracking immigration trends (CANSIM). http://www.statcan.ca/english/Estat/guide/track.htm . 2004. 5-8-2004.
- (137) Kulkarni K, Barcak E, El Serag H, Goodgame R. The impact of immigration on the increasing incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004; 20(4):445-450.



**Figure 1.** Age-adjusted (to the 1991 Canadian Population) hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and mortality among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, by sex, from 1976 through 2000.



**Figure 2.** Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada (plotted on the middle year of the 5-year age group on the x-axis), by sex and calendar year of diagnosis, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.



**Figure 3.** Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada (plotted on the middle year of the 5-year age group on the x-axis), by sex and calendar year of diagnosis, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.



**Figure 4.** Age-specific hepatocellular carcinoma incidence (A and B) and mortality (C and D) among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada stratified by sex and birth cohort year (plotted on the middle year of the 5-year birth cohort on the x-axis) in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.



Figure 5. Birthcohort relative rate for hepatocellular carcinoma incidence (1916 birth cohort is the referent group) among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000, stratified by sex (plotted on the mid-year of the birth-cohort on the x-axis) and adjusted for 5-year age-group at diagnosis.



**Figure 6.** Hepatocellular carcinoma age-adjusted (to the 1991 Canadian population) incidence from 1976 through 2000 and the projected incidence from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015, among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada, stratified by sex. Projection assumptions:

 The risk for HCC among males born after the1956 birth cohort is the same as the risk among males born in the 1956 birth-cohort.
The risk for HCC among females born after the1956 birth-cohort is the same as the average of the risks of the 1951 and the 1956 birth cohorts.

		Rates per 10	0,000 person-ye	ears (95% CI)			Change	
Sex/ Period of diagnosis (5-year)	1976- 1980	1981- 1985	1986- 1990	1991- 1995	1996- 2000	Absolute <sup>a</sup>	Proportional Percent (%) <sup>b</sup>	Annual Percent (%) (95% CI) <sup>c</sup>
				Incidence				
Male	2.8 (2.7-2.9)	3.2 (3.1-3.3)	3.9 (3.8-4.0)	4.7 (4.6-4.9)	5.5 (5.4-5.6)	2.7	96	3.4 (3.1-3.8)
Female	1.4 (1.3-1.5)	1.4 (1.4-1.5)	1.5 (1.4-1.6)	1.8 (1.7-1.9)	2.0 (1.9-2.1)	0.6	43	2.1 (1.5-2.8)
				Mortality				
Male	2.2 (2.1-2.3)	2.3 (2.2-2.4)	2.9 (2.8-3.0)	2.7 (2.6-2.8)	3.0 (2.9-3.1)	0.8	36	1.4 (0.68-2.2)
Female	1.0 (0.97-1.1)	1.1 (1.1-1.2)	1.3 (1.3-1.4)	1.0 (0.94-1.1)	1.0 (0.98-1.1)	0.0	0	-0.36 (-1.20.54)

**Table 1.** The age-adjusted (to the 1991 Canadian population) hepatocelluar carcinoma incidence and mortality trends, by sex, among persons inCanada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Absolute change refers to the 1996-2000 rate per 100,000 person-years minus the 1976-1980 rate per 100,000 person-years.

<sup>b</sup> Proportional Percent (%) change refers to [(absolute change)/ (1976-1980 rate per 100,000 person-years)]\*100.

<sup>c</sup> Annual Percent (%) change refers to the estimated annual percent change from 1976 through 2000 based on the Joinpoint regression analysis.

Age-group (vears)/	Age-adjusted In (95%	ncidence Rates % CI)		Change					
Period of diagnosis (5-year)	1976-1980	1996-2000	Absolute <sup>a</sup>	Proportional Percent (%) <sup>b</sup>	Annual Percent (%) (95% CI) <sup>c</sup>				
		Males							
20-49	0.38 (0.34-0.42) 4.6	0.72 (0.68-0.76) 9 1	0.34	89	3.3 (2.3-4.3) 3 3				
50-64	(3.9-5.4) 10 2	(8.3-10.0)	4.5	98	(2.5-4.0)				
65-74	(8.6-12.2)	(19.9-24.1) 24.8	11.7	115	(3.2-4.3)				
75+	(12.3-17.3)	(22.6-27.3)	10.2	70	(2.1-3.1)				
		Females	;						
20-49	0.25 (0.22-0.29)	0.30 (0.27-0.34)	0.050	20	1.1 (0.00028-2.3)				
50-64	1.6 (1.2-2.0)	2.3 (2.0-2.7)	0.70	44	2.2 (1.3-3.0)				
65-74	4.3 (3.3-5.5)	6.5 (5.5-7.6)	2.2	51	2.8 (1.9-3.8)				
75+	6.9 (5.6-8.4)	9.1 (8.1-10.3)	2.2	32	1.4 (0.6-2.3)				

Table 2. Hepatocellular carcinoma incidence trends by age and sex, among persons in Canada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Absolute change refers to the 1996-2000 rate per 100,000 person-years minus the 1976-1980 rate per 100,000 person-years.
<sup>b</sup> Proportional Percent (%) change refers to [(absolute change)/ (1976-1980 rate per 100,000 person-years)]\*100.
<sup>c</sup> Annual Percent (%) change refers to the estimated annual percent change from 1976 through 2000 based on the Joinpoint regression analysis.

Ago-group/	Age-adjusted I 95%	Mortality Rates 6 CI)	Change						
Period of diagnosis (5-year)	1976-1980	1996-2000	Absolute <sup>a</sup>	Proportional Percent (%) <sup>b</sup>	Annual Percent (%) (95% Cl) <sup>c</sup>				
			Males						
20-49	0.23 (0.20-0.26) 3.4	0.32 (0.29-0.35) 4.6	0.090	39	1.6 (0.5-2.7) 1 2				
50-64	(3.2-3.7)	(4.3-4.8)	1.2	35	(0.3-2.1)				
65-74	(8.0-9.5)	(11.6-13.0)	3.6	41	(0.56-2.4)				
75+	(10.3-12.2)	(14.0-15.7)	3.7	33	(0.16-1.9)				
			Females						
20-49	0.16 (0.14-0.20)	0.14 (0.12-0.16)	-0.020	-13	-2.9 (-4.81.0)				
50-64	(1.2-1.5)	(1.2-1.5)	0.10	8	(-1.7-1.0)				
65-74	3.1 (2.7-3.6) 4 8	3.8 (3.6-4.4) 5.0	0.70	23	0.50 (-0.7-1.7) -1.3 <sup>d</sup>				
75+	(4.3-5.3)	(4.6-5.4)	0.20	4	(-2.8-0.22)				

**Table 3.** Hepatocellular carcinoma mortality trends by age and sex, among persons in Canada aged 20 years or older, from 1976-1980 through1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Absolute change refers to the 1996-2000 rate per 100,000 person-years minus the 1976-1980 rate per 100,000 person-years.

<sup>b</sup> Proportional Percent (%) change refers to [(absolute change)/(1976-1980 rate per 100,000 person-years)]\*100.

<sup>c</sup> Annual Percent (%) change refers to the estimated annual percent change from 1976 through 2000 based on the joinpoint regression analysis.

<sup>d</sup> The annual percent change in Table 3 assumes a constant rate of change over the period of observation (1976 through 2000). But based on the joinpoint regression analysis a change in the trend in HCC mortality rates occurred among females aged 75 years and older in the year 1987 (95% CI = 1984-1991). The annual percent change was 2.8% (95% CI=-1.4%-7.1% per year) from 1976 through 1987 and it was -3.6% per year (95% CI=-5.8--1.3 per year) from 1987 through 2000.

Birth cohort (mid-year) <sup>b</sup> /	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)
Age group (5- year) <sup>c</sup>	0.63	0.72	0.79	0.87	1.00	1.29	1.63	1.88	2.13	2.26	3.38	4.42	5.29
40-44 0.34									0.80 (27) <sup>d</sup> 0.72 (24) <sup>e</sup>	0.84 (32) 0.77 (29)	1.0 (49) 1.2 (58)	1.5 (82) 1.5 (83)	1.8 (112) 1.8 (114)
45-49 0.79								1.6 (51) 1.5 (48)	1.7 (56) 1.7 (55)	1.5 (56) 1.8 (67)	2.8 (134) 2.6 (124)	3.5 (194) 3.5 (195)	
50-54 1.64							3.0 (91) 2.7 (82)	3.1 (99) 3.1 (97)	3.4 (109) 3.5 (112)	3.5 (131) 3.7 (138)	5.6 (264) 5.6 (266)		
55-59 3.56						4.2 (114) 4.6 (125)	5.4 (160) 5.8 (170)	6.9 (213) 6.7 (206)	7.5 (236) 7.6 (238)	8.5 (307) 8.0 (292)			
60-64 6.49					7.0 (155) 6.5 (145)	7.8 (199) 8.4 (213)	10.3 (287) 10.6 (295)	12.6 (372) 12.9 (382)	13.9 (419) 13.8 (418)				
65-69 11.03				9.0 (167) 9.6 (178)	11.2 (224) 11.0 (221)	14.1 (328) 14.2 (331)	19.3 (496) 18.0 (462)	19.9 (542) 20.7 (566)					
70-74 15.82			11.9 (156) 12.5 (163)	13.8 (211) 13.8 (212)	16.8 (286) 15.8 (268)	21.2 (426) 20.4 (410)	24.7 (548) 25.8 (573)						
75-79 20.80		16.1 (134) 15.0 (125)	16.9 (166) 16.4 (161)	18.2 (214) 18.2 (213)	18.9 (250) 20.8 (275)	27.5 (434) 26.8 (423)							
80-84 23.31	14.7 (66) 14.7 (66)	15.2 (81) 16.8 (90)	18.8 (121) 18.4 (118)	21.9 (172) 20.4 (160)	22.7 (203) 23.3 (209)								

**Table 4.** Observed and fitted<sup>a</sup> HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of incident HCC cases (n) by age at diagnosis and birth-cohort (mid-year of birth cohort), among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Fitted incidence rates and number of HCC cases are based on an age-cohort Poisson regression model.

<sup>b</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the birth-cohort relative rates are displayed beneath the birth years in the first row (the 1916 birth-cohort is the referent group).

<sup>e</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the age-specific rates (incidence per 100,000 person-years) are displayed beneath the 5-year age groups in the first column.

<sup>d</sup> The first row for each age group is the observed incidence rate (per 100,000 person-years) and the observed number of incident HCC cases.

<sup>e</sup> The second row for each age group is the fitted incidence rate and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)] and in parentheses is the fitted number of incident HCC cases and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate) x (age-specific rate) x (person-years of observation)].

Birth-cohort (mid-year) <sup>b</sup> /	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)
(5-year) <sup>c</sup>	0.66	0.86	0.85	0.93	1.00	1.17	1.30	1.82	1.63	1.93	1.85	2.00	2.66
40-44									0.23 (8) <sup>d</sup>	0.46 (17)	0.33 (16)	0.30 (17)	0.47 (30)
0.10									0.29 (9)	0.00 (10)	0.02 (10)	0.00 (10)	0.47 (30)
45-49								0.70 (22)	0.43 (14)	0.55 (21)	0.61 (29)	0.71 (40)	
0.33								0.59 (16)	0.55 (17)	0.04 (24)	0.01 (29)	0.05 (30)	
50-54							0.71 (22)	1.2 (37)	1.2 (38)	1.2 (45)	1.2 (57)		
0.64							0.84 (26)	1.2 (37)	1.1 (33)	1.2 (46)	1.2 (57)		
55-59						1.6 (47)	1.5 (47)	2.0 (61)	1.8 (58)	2,2 (83)			
1.16						1.4 (40)	1.5 (47)	2.1 (66)	1.9 (60)	2.2 (83)			
00.04					0.4 (50)	07(70)	0.0 (74)	4.0.400)	0.0 (44.4)				
60-64 2.17					2.4 (59) 2.2 (53)	2.7 (78) 2.6 (73)	2.3 (71) 2.8 (86)	4.0 123) 3.9 (121)	3.6 (114) 3.5 (111)				
65-69 3 44				3.5 (74) 3 2 (67)	3.4 (80) 3.4 (81)	3.8 (105) 4 0 (112)	4.6 (134) 4 5 (131)	6.2 (185) 6 3 (185)					
0.77				0.2 (07)	0.4 (01)	4.0 (112)	4.0 (101)	0.0 (100)					
70-74			5.2 (84)	5.1 (99)	4.9 (108)	5.7 (147)	7.6 (207)						
5.41			4.6 (75)	5.0 (97)	5.4 (119)	6.4 (164)	7.0 (191)						
75-79		6.8 (79)	5.6 (79)	6.2 (104)	8.2 (156)	9.4 (212)							
7.60		6.5 (76)	6.5 (91)	7.0 (119)	7.6 (145)	8.9 (200)							
80-84	0.0 (40)	7.0 (00)	0.4 (00)	0.4 (400)	0.0 (400)								
9.31	6.2 (46) 6.2 (46)	7.6 (68) 8.0 (71)	8.1 (89) 7.9 (87)	9.1 (120) 8.6 (114)	9.0 (136) 9.3 (141)								

**Table 5.** Observed and fitted<sup>a</sup> HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of incident HCC cases (n) by age at diagnosis and birth-cohort (mid-year of birth-cohort), among females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Fitted incidence rates and number of HCC cases are based on an age-cohort Poisson regression model.

<sup>b</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the birth-cohort relative rates are displayed beneath the birth years in the first row (the 1916 birth-cohort is the referent group).

<sup>c</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the age-specific rates (incidence per 100,000 person-years) are displayed beneath the 5-year age groups in the first column.

<sup>d</sup> The first row for each age group is the observed incidence rate (per 100,000 person-years) and the observed number of incident HCC cases.

<sup>e</sup> The second row for each age group is the fitted incidence rate and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)] and in parentheses is the fitted number of incident HCC cases and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific ra

**Table 6.** Observed (from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000) and projected (from 2001-2005 through 2011-2015) age-adjusted (to the 1991 Canadian population) hepatocellular carcinoma incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) and the number of incident HCC cases among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada.

	Male	S	Females				
Period of		Number of		Number of			
diagnosis	Incidence	Incident	Incidence	Incident			
(5-year)	Rate (95% CI)	cases (n)	Rate (95% CI)	cases (n)			
1976-1980	5.1 (4.1-6.4)	961	2.2 (1.8-2.8)	441			
1981-1985	5.8 (4.7-7.3)	1415	2.3 (1.8-2.9)	519			
1986-1990	7.0 (5.6-8.8)	1663	2.4 (1.9-3.0)	613			
1991-1995	8.6 (6.9-10.8)	2299	2.9 (2.3-3.6)	829			
1996-2000	10.1 (8.1-12.6)	3023	3.4 (2.9-4.2)	1064			
2001-2005	12.2 (9.8-15.3)	4164	3.7 (3.0-4.6)	1287			
2006-2010	14.6 (11.7-18.3)	5641	4.1 (3.2-5.1)	1555			
2011-2015	17.6 (14.1-22.0)	7672	4.4 (3.5-5.5)	1877			

Voor									Age-group	(5-year)								All ages
Teal -	20-39	40-44	4	45-49	50-54		55-59		60-64		65-69		70-74	75-79	80-84	85+		20-85+ <sup>a</sup>
1976 1977 1978 1979 1980	0.13 (5) 0.29 (11) 0.18 (7) 0.25 (51) 0.35 (14) 0.34 (14)	1.4 (9) 0.23 (1.5) <sup>b</sup> 1.1 (7) 0.91 (6) 0.44 (3)	1.4 1.4 0.80 (26.5) 1.5 0.92 2.6	(9) (9) (10) 1.6 (51 2 (6) (17)	2.8 (17) 3.0 (18) 3.0 (18) 3.6 (22) 2.6 (16)	3.0 (91)	3.8 (19) 4.8 (25) 4.1 (22) 4.7 (26) 3.9 (22)	4.2 (114)	7.3 (32) 7.2 (32) 7.5 (33) 7.5 (33) 5.5 (25)	6.9 (155)	9.0 (31) 7.9 (28) 9.9 (36) 9.6 (36) 9.3 (36)	9.0 (167)	10.6 (26) 10.4 (26) 12.8 (33) 13.2 (35) 13.1 (36)	11.8 (18) 14.6 (23) 11.9 (156) 21.3 (35) 18.1 (31) 15.3 (27)	13.9 (12) 22.9 (20) 16.0 (134) 14.8 (13) 13.3 (12) 9.7 (9)	8.2 (5) 13.1 (8) 14.7 (66) 8.1 (5) 14.4 (9) 7.9 (5)	10.3 (32)	2.6 (183) 2.8 (201.5) 3.0 (219) 2.8 (1043.5) 3.1 (230) 2.7 (210)
1981 1982 1983 1984 1985	0.30 (13) 0.30 (13) 0.29 (13) 0.26 (58) 0.24 (11) 0.17 (8)	0.86 (6) 0.56 (4) 1.2 (9) 0.64 (5) 0.99 (8)	1.9 0.93 0.84 (32) 1.9 1.5 2.4	(12) 3 (6) (12) 1.7 (56 (10) (16)	2.6 (16) 2.5 (16) 2.7 (17) 4.3 (27) 3.7 (23)	3.1 (99)	4.5 (26) 6.1 (35) 5.8 (34) 6.6 (39) 4.3 (26)	5.4 (160)	7.9 (37) 6.6 (32) 6.3 (32) 9.8 (51) 8.9 (47)	7.8 (199)	9.2 (36) 10.8 (43) 9.9 (39) 12.9 (51) 13.6 (55)	11.2 (224)	11.3 (32) 12.7 (37) 13.3 (40) 17.3 (54) 14.9 (48)	14.3 (26) 18.2 (34) 13.8 (211) 16.1 (31) 17.6 (35) 19.4 (40)	20.9 (20) 10.0 (10) 16.9 (166) 10.5 (11) 20.1 (22) 15.9 (18)	12.5 (8) 17.0 (11 15.2 (81) 15.3 (10 21.0 (14 7.3 (5)	) ) 14.4 (48) )	3.0 (232) 3.0 (241) 3.0 (248) 3.2 (1334) 3.8 (319) 3.5 (294)
1986 1987 1988 1989 1990	0.41 (19) 0.21 (10) 0.23 (11) 0.33 (79) 0.38 (18) 0.44 (21)	1.1 (9) 1.1 (10) 1.1 (10) 1.1 (11) 0.87 (9)	1.3 0.8 1.0 (49) 1.6 1.7 2.0	(9) 6 (6) (12) 1.5 (56 (13) (16)	4.0 (25) 2.2 (14) 3.4 (21) 3.9 (25) 3.7 (24)	3.4 (109)	8.1 (49) 4.6 (28) 6.5 (40) 9.1 (56) 6.5 (40)	6.9 (213)	11.2 (60) 13.8 (75) 7.9 (44) 8.7 (49) 10.3 (59)	10.3 (287)	13.1 (55) 14.1 (62) 14.2 (65) 14.2 (68) 16.0 (78)	14.1 (328)	16.2 (53) 17.1 (57) 17.6 (59) 16.6 (56) 17.5 (61)	19.8 (42) 17.7 (39) 16.8 (286). 15.2 (35) 19.6 (47) 20.5 (51)	15.4 (18) 19.8 (24) 18.2 (214) 21.5 (27) 15.3 (20) 23.5 (32)	24.2 (17 23.0 (17 18.8 (121) 18.2 (14 14.9 (12 15.4 (13	) ) ) 18.5 (73) ) )	4.0 (356) 3.8 (342) 3.7 (338) 3.9 (1815) 4.0 (375) 4.2 (404)
1991 1992 1993 1994 1995	0.35 (17) 0.54 (26) 0.46 (22) 0.44 (105 0.42 (20) 0.42 (20)	1.2 (13) 1.7 (18) 5) 1.4 (15) 1.6 (18) 1.6 (18)	2.4 2.3 1.5 (82) 2.4 3.1 3.8	(20) (21) (23) 2.8 (13 (31) (39)	3.4 (23) 3.3 (23) 4) 3.4 (25) 4.1 (31) 3.7 (29)	3.5 (131)	7.0 (43) 5.4 (33) 7.9 (49) 8.9 (56) 8.6 (55)	7.5 (236)	10.5 (61) 9.5 (56) 11.6 (69) 17.0 (101) 14.3 (85)	12.6 (372) )	19.7 (98) 16.7 (84) 21.0 (107) 21.0 (108) 18.9 (99)	19.3 (496)	19.2 (70) 18.0 (69) 20.9 (83) 21.3 (88) 27.6 (116)	16.8 (43) 21.2 (55) 21.2 (426) 17.6 (46) 19.4 (51) 20.3 (55)	22.5 (32) 20.9 (31) 18.9 (250) 21.4 (33) 26.2 (42) 20.4 (34)	21.7 (19 13.3 (12 21.9 (172) 19.2 (18 18.6 (18 17.0 (17	) ) ) 17.6 (84) ) )	4.4 (439) 4.2 (428) 4.7 (490) 4.7 (2488) 5.3 (564) 5.2 (567)
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000	0.36 (17) 0.44 (21) 0.45 (21) 0.40 (93) 0.32 (15) 0.41 (19)	1.7 (20) 2.0 (25) 2.1 (27) 1.5 (19) 1.6 (21)	3.3 3.9 1.8 (112) 2.8 4.1 3.5	(35) (42) (31) 3.5 (19) (46) (40)	4.8 (40) 5.3 (47) 4) 6.3 (59) 5.7 (56) 6.1 (62)	5.6 (264)	9.9 (65) 10.0 (68) 7.3 (52) 7.6 (56) 8.6 (66)	8.4 (307)	14.0 (83) 12.8 (76) 12.8 (76) 15.9 (96) 14.3 (88)	13.9 (419)	15.8 (84) 19.9 (108) 21.4 (117) 22.2 (122) 20.2 (111)	19.9 (542)	22.8 (97) 24.1 (104) 24.3 (107) 24.6 (110) 28.5 (130)	28.7 (81) 23.9 (71) 24.7 (548) 28.9 (90) 27.4 (89) 30.9 (103	21.7 (37) 27.1 (47) 27.5 (434) 20.0 (35) 22.5 (40) ) 23.7 (44)	19.4 (20 25.2 (27 22.7 (203) 16.9 (19 24.5 (29 19.1 (24	) ) ) 20.5 (119 ) )	5.2 (579) 5.6 (636) ) 5.5 (634) 5.5 (3235) 5.7 (678) 5.8 (708)

**Appendix A**. Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of incident cases (n) among males aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

<sup>b</sup> Average annual age-specific incidence rate for the 5-year period of diagnosis and the total number of cases (n) for the 5-year period of diagnosis.

Vear										Age-group	o (5-year)											All ages
	20-39		40-44	45-49		50-54		55-59		60-64		65-69		70-74		75-79		80-84		85+		20-85+ <sup>a</sup>
1976 1977 1978 1979 1980	0.11 (4) 0.21 (8) 0.16 (6) 0.15 (6) 0.24 (10)	0.17 (34) <sup>b</sup>	0.24 (1.5) 0.24 (1.5) 0.24 (1.5) 0. 0.24 (1.5) 0.23 (1.5)	0.96 (6) 0.64 (4) .23 (7.5) 0.64 (4) 0.64 (4) 0.64 (4) 0.64 (4)	0.70 (22)	0.24 (1.5) 0.24 (1.5) 0.80 (5) 0.97 (6) 1.3 (8)	0.71 (22)	1.1 (6) 2.0 (11) 1.6 (9) 1.5 (9) 2.0 (12)	1.6 (47)	3.0 (14) 2.7 (13) 2.3 (11) 1.6 (8) 2.6 (13)	2.4 (59)	2.6 (10) 5.0 (20) 3.9 (16) 3.0 (13) 3.4 (15)	3.5 (74)	6.1 (18) 4.2 (13) 5.3 (17) 3.6 (12) 7.0 (24)	5.2 (84)	4.7 (10) 4.6 (10) 7.0 (16) 9.3 (22) 8.6 (21)	6.8 (79)	5.9 (8) 7.8 (11) 4.8 (7) 7.3 (11) 5.7 (9)	6.2 (46)	1.4 (1.5) 10.9 (12) 7.0 (8) 7.5 (9) 12.0 (15)	7.7 (45.5)	1.2 (80.5 ) 1.5 (105) 1.4 (100.5) 1.4 (520) 1.4 (101.5) 1.7 (132.5)
1981 1982 1983 1984 1985	0.17 (7) 0.19 (8) 0.14 (6) 0.22 (10) 0.18 (8)	0.18 (39)	0.22 (1.5) 0.86 (6) 0.21 (1.5) 0. 0.53 (4) 0.51 (4)	0.24 (1.5 0.64 (4) .46 (17) 0.24 (1.5 0.79 (5) 0.23 (1.5	0.43 (13.5	1.1 (7) 1.4 (9) ) 1.3 (8) 0.96 (6) 1.1 (7)	1.2 (37)	1.5 (9) 1.5 (9) 1.5 (9) 1.0 (6) 2.3 (14)	1.5 (47)	2.5 (13) 2.7 (15) 2.3(13) 2.5 (15) 3.7 (22)	2.7 (78)	3.9 (18) 2.8 (13) 5.1 (24) 1.7 (8) 3.5 (17)	3.4 (80)	5.9 (21) 4.6 (17) 3.9 (15) 5.1 (20) 6.3 (26)	5.1 (99)	7.1 (18) 4.5 (12) 4.0 (11) 5.6 (16) 7.5 (22)	5.6 (79)	7.4 (12) 10.7 (18) 9.2 (16) 4.9 (9) 6.8 (13)	7.6 (68)	12.9 (17) 5.8 (8) 6.3 (9) 8.7 (13) 7.1 (11)	7.9 (58)	1.6 (125) 1.5 (119) 1.4 (114) 1.4 (615.5) 1.3 (112) 1.6 (145.5)
1986 1987 1988 1989 1990	0.20 (9) 0.15 (7) 0.17 (8) 0.19 (9) 0.13 (6)	0.17 (39)	0.18 (1.5) 0.17 (1.5) 0.65 (6) 0. 0.51 (5) 0.15 (1.5)	0.91 (6) 0.73 (5) .33 (15.5) 0.55 (4) 0.20 (1.5 0.51 (4)	0.55 (20.5	1.1 (7) 1.9 (12) ) 1.1 (7) 0.63 (4) 1.2 (8)	1.2 (38)	2.1 (13) 1.4 (9) 1.8 (11) 2.9 (18) 1.6 (10)	2.0 (61)	2.2 (13) 1.7 (10) 2.3 (14) 3.0 (18) 2.6 (16)	2.3 (71)	1.6 (8) 4.0 (21) 3.8 (21) 4.7 (27) 4.8 (28)	3.8 (105)	4.5 (19) 5.6 (24) 5.8 (25) 5.0 (22) 4.0 (18)	4.9 (108)	5.6 (17) 7.2 (23) 7.9 (26) 5.8 (20) 5.0 (18)	6.2 (104)	8.1 (16) 10.7 (22) 6.1 (13) 9.4 (21) 7.4 (17)	8.1 (89)	9.9 (16) 7.7 (13) 11.4 (20) 9.8 (18) 11.5 (22)	9.9 (89)	1.4 (125.5) 1.6 (147.5) 1.6 (155) 1.5 (740) 1.7 (163.5) 1.5 (148.5)
1991 1992 1993 1994 1995	0.10 (4) 0.19 (9) 0.21 (10) 0.11 (5) 0.27 (13)	0.17 (41)	0.14 (1.5) 0.37 (4) 0.73 (8) 0. 0.13 (1.5) 0.13 (1.5)	0.48 (4) 0.56 (5) .30 (16.5) 0.64 (6) 0.61 (6) 0.78 (8)	0.61 (29)	1.2 (8) 1.7 (12) 0.96 (7) 1.3 (10) 1.0 (8)	1.2 (45)	1.8 (11) 2.1 (13) 1.6 (10) 2.0 (13) 1.7 (11)	1.8 (58)	3.9 (24) 4.1 (25) 3.4 (21) 4.4 (27) 4.2 (26)	4.0 (123)	3.6 (21) 4.3 (25) 4.8 (28) 5.1 (30) 5.1 (30)	4.6 (134)	6.2 (29) 5.3 (26) 5.3 (27) 7.2 (38) 5.0 (27)	5.7 (147)	5.4 (20) 9.1 (34) 9.3 (35) 8.7 (33) 8.7 (34)	8.2 (156)	6.7 (16) 9.2 (23) 10.0 (26) 10.7 (29) 9.2 (26)	9.1 (120)	11.0 (22) 15.3 (32) 8.3 (18) 4.9 (11) 10.3 (24)	9.7 (107)	1.5 (160.5) 2.0 (208) 1.8 (196) 1.8 (976.5) 1.8 (203.5) 1.9 (208.5)
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000	0.22 (10) 0.17 (8) 0.26 (12) 0.15 (7) 0.18 (8)	0.20 (45)	0.13 (1.5) 0.49 (6) 0.79 (10) 0. 0.55 (7) 0.38 (5)	0.14 (1.5 0.65 (7) .47 (29.5) 0.73 (8) 0.80 (9) 1.2 (14)	0.71 (39.5	1.3 (11) 1.3 (12) ) 0.64 (6) 1.1 (11) 1.7 (17)	1.2 (57)	2.4 (16) 1.7 (12) 2.5 (18) 1.5 (11) 3.3 (26)	2.2 (83)	4.1 (25) 2.8 (17) 4.4 (27) 3.5 (22) 3.6 (23)	3.6 (114)	6.6 (39) 4.5 (27) 7.6 (45) 4.7 (28) 7.8 (46)	6.2 (185)	7.8 (42) 7.0 (38) 8.1 (44) 7.5 (41) 7.7 (42)	7.6 (207)	9.1 (37) 11.2 (48) 11.7 (52) 6.3 (29) 9.8 (46)	9.4 (212)	7.3 (21) 8.9 (26) 10.5 (31) 8.6 (26) 10.2 (32)	9.0 (136)	11.2 (27) 7.2 (18) 9.2 (24) 8.4 (23) 8.7 (25)	8.7 (117)	2.0 (231) 1.9 (219) 2.3 (277) 2.0 (1225) 1.7 (214) 2.3 (284)

**Appendix B**. Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of incident cases (n) among females aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

<sup>b</sup> Average annual age-specific incidence rate for the 5-year period of diagnosis and the total number of incident cases (n) for the 5-year period of diagnosis.

Vear						Age-group (5-year)								All a	ges
rear -	20-39	40-44	45-49	50-54	55-59	60-64	65-69	70-74	75-79	80-84		85+		20-8	5+ <sup>a</sup>
1976 1977 1978 1979 1980	0.16 (6) 0.08 (3) 0.15 (6) 0.13 (26) <sup>b</sup> 0.15 (6) 0.12 (5)	1.1 (7) 0.15 (1) 0.92 (6) 0.63 (21) 0.30 (2) 0.74 (5)	1.3 (8) 0.62 (4) 0.92 (6) 1.1 (35) 0.92 (6) 1.7 (11)	1.7 (10) 3.0 (18) 1.7 (10) 2.2 (68) 3.1 (19) 1.8 (11)	2.0 (10) 3.5 (18) 2.6 (14) 2.6 (70) 2.9 (16) 2.1 (12)	5.0 (22) 6.1 (27) 4.5 (20) 5.7 (127) 8.2 (36) 4.9 (22)	7.0 (24) 7.0 (25) 8.0 (29) 7.3 (135) 6.4 (24) 8.6 (33)	9.4 (23) 12.0 (30) 9.3 (24) 10.9 (29) 12.4 (34)	10.5 (16) 10.8 (17) 10.7 (140) 12.8 (21) 15.2 (26) 14.2 (25)	13.9 (12) 14.9 (13) 12.5 (105) 7.9 (7) 5.5 (5) 6.5 (6)	9.6 (43)	6.6 (4) 6.5 (4) 12.9 (8) 10 11.2 (7) 12.7 (8)	2. 2. 0. (31) 2. 2. 2.	1 (142) 2 (160) 1 (151) 3 (176) 3 (172)	2.2 (823)
1981 1982 1983 1984 1985	0.28 (12) 0.23 (10) 0.11 (5) 0.18 (41) 0.20 (9) 0.11 (5)	0.57 (4) 0.28 (2) 0.40 (3) 0.57 (22) 0.90 (7) 0.74 (6)	1.3 (8) 0.78 (5) 0.62 (4) 0.99 (32) 0.92 (6) 1.4 (9)	2.2 (14) 1.7 (11) 2.5 (16) 2.5 (80) 2.7 (17) 3.5 (22)	3.1 (18) 4.2 (24) 3.4 (20) 3.6 (107) 4.1 (24) 3.5 (21)	4.9 (23) 4.1 (20) 4.6 (23) 5.3 (134) 6.7 (35) 6.2 (33)	7.4 (29) 7.1 (28) 7.6 (30) 8.2 (164) 10.1 (40) 9.1 (37)	5.7 (16) 8.9 (26) 7.6 (23) 15.4 (48) 12.4 (40)	6.1 (11) 14.4 (27) 10.0 (153) 11.9 (23) 16.1 (32) 12.1 (25)	11.5 (11) 8.0 (8) 12.0 (118) 11.5 (12) 17.3 (19) 16.7 (19)	12.9 (69)	4.7 (3) 9.3 (6) 4.6 (3) 9 12.0 (8) 16.1 (11)	1. 2. 3 (31) 2. 2. 2.	9 (149) 1 (167) 0 (162) 9 (245) 7 (228)	2.3 (951)
1986 1987 1988 1989 1990	0.17 (8) 0.36 (17) 0.06 (3) 0.22 (52) 0.21 (10) 0.29 (14)	0.83 (7) 0.78 (7) 0.63 (6) 0.62 (30) 0.61 (6) 0.39 (4)	1.2 (8) 0.71 (5) 1.1 (8) 1.1 (41) 1.2 (9) 1.4 (11)	2.4 (15) 1.9 (12) 2.6 (16) 2.2 (70) 2.7 (17) 1.5 (10)	4.1 (25) 3.8 (23) 4.9 (30) 5.0 (154) 6.5 (40) 5.8 (36)	8.0 (43) 7.5 (41) 8.7 (48) 7.0 (194) 6.2 (35) 4.7 (27)	8.8 (37) 10.0 (44) 14.0 (64) 11.4 (265) 12.8 (61) 12.1 (59)	15.0 (49) 15.0 (50) 16.2 (54) 11.6 (39) 10.6 (37)	15.1 (32) 14.5 (32) 13.5 (229) 13.5 (31) 16.3 (39) 11.6 (29)	14.5 (17) 14.8 (18) 13.9 (163) 18.3 (23) 19.1 (14) 10.3 (14)	15.1 (97)	10.0 (7) 14.9 (11) 15.6 (12) 10 9.9 (8) 4.7 (4)	2. 2. .6 (42) 3. 3. 2.	8 (248) 9 (260) 2 (295) 1 (289) 5 (245)	2.9 (1337)
1991 1992 1993 1994 1995	0.25 (12) 0.17 (8) 0.17 (8) 0.20 (49) 0.31 (15) 0.13 (6)	0.37 (4) 0.74 (8) 1.2 (13) 0.92 (51) 1.1 (12) 1.2 (14)	0.83 (7) 1.2 (11) 1.2 (11) 1.1 (54) 1.1 (11) 1.4 (14)	1.8 (12) 2.3 (16) 2.3 (17) 2.1 (78) 1.6 (12) 2.7 (21)	3.6 (22) 3.8 (23) 4.9 (30) 4.3 (134) 4.8 (30) 4.5 (29)	7.2 (42) 6.8 (40) 8.4 (50) 7.7 (229) 9.4 (56) 6.9 (41)	11.2 (56) 10.5 (53) 10.4 (53) 10.7 (276) 11.4 (59) 10.5 (55)	10.7 (39) 14.4 (55) ) 13.6 (54) 13.1 (54) 14.3 (60)	10.2 (26) 12.7 (33) 13.0 (262) 12.3 (32) 12.2 (32) 10.4 (28)	7.7 (11) 12.8 (19) 11.4 (151) 9.1 (14) 19.9 (32) 10.2 (17)	11.8 (93)	5.7 (5) 9.9 (9) 12.8 (12) 10 13.4 (13) 9.0 (9)	2. 2. .1 (48) 2. 3. 2.	4 (236) 7 (275) 8 (294) 1 (326) 7 (294)	2.7 (1425)
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000	0.21 (10) 0.08 (4) 0.32 (15) 0.19 (44) 0.15 (7) 0.17 (8)	1.1 (12) 0.33 (4) 1.2 (15) 0.89 (56) 0.94 (12) 1.0 (13)	1.3 (12) 0.74 (8) 1.4 (15) 1.5 (83) 1.9 (21) 2.3 (27)	1.9 (16) 1.2 (11) 3.5 (33) 2.3 (109) 2.8 (27) 2.2 (22)	5.3 (35) 2.8 (19) 6.1 (43) 4.2 (154) 3.8 (28) 3.8 (29)	6.9 (41) 7.3 (43) 7.9 (47) 7.3 (222) 8.8 (53) 6.2 (38)	8.3 (44) 8.7 (47) 13.1 (72) 10.6 (290) 12.7 (70) 10.4 (57)	11.5 (49) 13.4 (58) ) 15.9 (70) 16.8 (75) 15.6 (71)	17.7 (50) 17.5 (52) 14.5 (323) 16.1 (50) 22.8 (74) 15.3 (51)	11.2 (19) 13.2 (23) 17.6 (277) 10.8 (19) 12.4 (22) 13.0 (24)	11.9 (107)	11.6 (12) 10.3 (11) 14.2 (16) 11 7.6 (9) 15.9 (20)	2. 2. .7 (68) 3. 3. 2.	7 (300) 5 (280) 4 (395) 4 (398) 9 (360)	3.0 (3020)

**Appendix C**. Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted mortality rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of deaths (n) among males aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

<sup>b</sup> Average annual age-specific mortality rate for the 5-year period and the total number of deaths (n) for the 5-year period.

Year		Age-group (5-year)													
rear	20-39	40-44	45-49	50-54	55-59	60-64	65-69	70-74	75-79	80-84	85+	20-85+ <sup>a</sup>			
1976	0.03 (1)	0.32 (2)	0.48 (3)	0.32 (2)	1.70 (9)	2.54 (12)	4.41 (17)	4.75 (14)	5.15 (11)	4.40 (6)	1.89 (2)	1.1 (79)			
1977	0.16 (6)	0.16 (1)	0.48 (3)	0.48 (3)	0.72 (4)	2.71 (13)	3.25 (13)	2.61 (8)	2.28 (5)	4.24 (6)	3.63 (4)	0.91 (66)			
1978	0.10 (4)	0.10 (20) <sup>b</sup> 0.32 (2)	0.31 (10) 0.00 (0)	0.32 (10) 0.32 (2)	0.58 (18) 1.21 (7)	1.30 (38) 2.48 (12)	2.1 (52) 2.18 (9)	3.1 (65) 3.15 (10)	3.1 (51) 7.05 (16)	4.2 (49) 8.92 (13)	5.0 (37) 8.71 (10) 5.6	(33) 1.2 (85) 1.0 (383)			
1979	0.13 (5)	0.63 (4)	0.48 (3)	0.65 (4)	1.50 (9)	1.43 (7)	3.26 (14)	2.73 (9)	3.39 (8)	3.96 (6)	5.84 (7)	1.0 (76)			
1980	0.10 (4)	0.15 (1)	0.16 (1)	1.1 (7)	1.48 (9)	1.60 (8)	2.69 (12)	2.93 (10)	3.68 (9)	3.82 (6)	7.99 (10)	0.99 (77)			
1981	0.12 (5)	0.89 (6)	0.96 (6)	0.32 (2)	1.30 (8)	2.11 (11)	2.19 (10)	3.95 (14)	3.93 (10)	5.52 (9)	6.08 (8)	1.1 (89)			
1982	0.05 (5)	0.14 (1)	0.64 (4)	0.80 (5)	0.16 (1)	2.56 (14)	2.80 (13)	3.54 (13)	5.28 (14)	4.17 (7)	4.35 (6)	0.99 (80)			
1983	0.11 (5)	0.10 (22) 0.55 (4)	0.40 (15) 0.64 (4)	0.66 (21) 0.32 (2)	0.48 (15) 1.30 (8)	1.1 (33) 1.93 (11)	2.3 (66) 3.85 (18)	2.6 (61) 6.05 (23)	4.4 (86) 4.36 (12)	5.1 (71) 5.74 (10)	4.9 (44) 5.60 (8) 6.2	(45) 1.3 (105) 1.1 (479)			
1984	0.13 (6)	0.26 (2)	0.63 (4)	0.00 (0)	1.13 (7)	2.20 (13)	2.76 (13)	4.30 (17)	4.92 (14)	4.39 (8)	8.73 (13)	1.1 (97)			
1985	0.09 (4)	0.25 (2)	0.46 (3)	1.00 (6)	1.45 (9)	2.84 (17)	1.44 (7)	4.63 (19)	7.13 (21)	5.27 (10)	6.44 (10)	1.2 (108)			
1986	0.22 (10)	0.37 (3)	0.15 (1)	0.64 (4)	1.70 (11)	2.32 (14)	2.97 (15)	5.24 (22)	4.91 (15)	7.60 (15)	7.43 (12)	1.3 (122)			
1987	0.09 (4)	0.00 (0)	0.29 (2)	0.48 (3)	1.45 (9)	2.15 (13)	2.83 (15)	4.66 (20)	7.56 (24)	9.21 (19)	10.69 (18)	1.4 (127)			
1988	0.04 (2)	0.12 (29) 0.32 (3)	0.17 (8) 0.28 (2)	0.40 (15) 1.45 (9)	0.98 (31) 0.96 (6)	1.4 (45) 1.64 (10)	2.1 (65) 3.09 (17)	3.2 (88) 5.78 (25(	4.9 (108) 7.28 (24)	6.3 (107) 5.60 (12)	6.7 (73) 11.41 (20) 8.8	(79) 1.4 (130) 1.3 (648)			
1989	0.11 (5)	0.10 (1)	0.40 (3)	1.42 (9)	2.09 (13)	2.13 (13)	3.67 (21)	5.49 (24)	5.80 (20)	7.63 (17)	9.26 (17)	1.5 (143)			
1990	0.17 (8)	0.10 (1)	0.88 (7)	0.93 (6)	0.97 (6)	2.46 (15)	3.44 (20)	3.77 (17)	6.70 (24)	4.33 (10)	6.25 (12)	1.2 (126)			
1991	0.06 (3)	0.28 (3)	0.12 (1)	0.75 (5)	1.94 (12)	3.10 (19)	1.87 (11)	2.12 (10)	2.99 (11)	4.57 (11)	9.48 (19)	1.0 (105)			
1992	0.06 (3)	0.37 (4)	0.22 (2)	0.87 (6)	1.29 (8)	1.46 (9)	3.07 (18)	4.47 (22)	3.75 (14)	3.60 (9)	11.03 (23)	1.1 (118)			
1993	0.09 (4)	0.06 (15) 0.37 (4)	0.23 (13) 0.43 (4)	0.25 (12) 0.41 (3)	0.51 (19) 0.48 (3)	1.2 (38) 2.43 (15)	2.5 (76) 2.72 (16)	2.5 (73) 4.10 (21)	3.6 (92) 2.92 (11)	3.8 (72) 6.16 (16)	4.4 (58) 6.46 (14) 7.2	(79) 1.0 (111) 1.0 (547)			
1994	0.04 (2)	0.00 (0)	0.20 (2)	0.00 (0)	1.10 (7)	2.60 (16)	2.56 (15)	3.78 (20)	5.01 (19)	5.54 (15)	4.01 (9)	0.95 (105)			
1995	0.06 (3)	0.17 (2)	0.29 (3)	0.63 (5)	1.23 (8)	2.76 (17)	2.21 (13)	3.54 (19)	4.35 (17)	2.49 (7)	6.01 (14)	0.96 (108)			
1996	0.13 (6)	0.09 (1)	0.37 (4)	0.96 (8)	0.60 (4)	1.30 (8)	3.05 (18)	5.36 (29)	4.18 (17)	3.48 (10)	4.98 (12)	1.0 (117)			
1997	0.11 (5)	0.16 (2)	0.37 (4)	0.34 (3)	0.57 (4)	0.81 (5)	1.35 (8)	3.32 (18)	5.62 (24)	8.19 (24)	3.59 (9)	0.89 (106)			
1998	0.00 (0)	0.09 (20) 0.24 (3)	0.21 (13) 0.36 (4)	0.34 (19) 0.11 (1)	0.40 (19) 1.38 (10)	1.1 (39) 1.78 (11)	1.5 (47) 3.70 (22)	3.1(92) 4.23 (23)	4.6 (126) 6.28 (28)	5.0 (113) 4.73 (14)	5.1 (77) 3.06 (8) 4.8	(64) 1.0 (124) 1.0 (629)			
1999	0.11 (5)	0.39 (5)	0.27 (3)	0.51 (5)	0.66 (5)	1.90 (12)	4.38 (26)	6.07 (33)	5.19 (24)	6.32 (19)	5.48 (15)	1.3 (152)			
2000	0.09 (4)	0.15 (2)	0.34 (4)	0.19 (2)	2.04 (16)	1.71 (11)	3.04 (18)	4.21 (23)	4.24 (20)	3.20 (10)	6.95 (20)	1.0 (130)			

**Appendix D**. Hepatocellular carcinoma age-specific and age-adjusted mortality rates (per 100,000 person-years) and number of deaths (n) among females aged 20 years and older in Canada from 1976 through 2000.

<sup>b</sup> Average annual age-specific mortality rate for the 5-year period and the total number of deaths (n) for the 5-year period.



**Appendix E**. Algorithm of hypotheses tested in the joinpoint regression analysis (105) of the trends in the rate of change in the ageadjusted HCC incidence (or mortality) rates for a given sex (and a given age group) from 1976 through 2000 in Canada.



**Appendix F.** Age-adjusted (to the 1991 Canadian population) hepatocellular carcinoma incidence among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000. The points are the observed incidence rates and the line segment joins the fitted incidence rates from the Joinpoint regression analysis. The slope of the regression line, multiplied by 100, is equal to the estimated annual percent change in the incidence rates during the period of observation (1976 through 2000).



**Appendix G.** Age-adjusted (to the 1991 Canadian population) hepatocellular carcinoma mortality among persons aged 20 years or older in Canada, stratified by sex and age-group, from 1976 through 2000. The points are the observed mortality rates and the line segment joins the fitted mortality rates from the Joinpoint regression analysis. The slope of the regression line, multiplied by 100, is equal to the estimated annual percent change in the incidence rates during the period of observation.

Age-								Birth-cohor	t (mid-year)							
group (5-year)	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)	1957-1965 (1961)	1962-1970 (1966)	1967-1975 (1971)
40-44									1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015
45-49								1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015	
50-54							1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015		
55-59						1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015			
60-64					1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015				
65-69				1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015					
70-74			1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015						
75-79		1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015							
80-84	1976-1980	1981-1985	1986-1990	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-2005	2006-2010	2011-2015								

Appendix H. Period of observation (5-year) by birth-cohort and age-group (5-year) from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

**Appendix I.** Relative risk for HCC associated with cohort year of birth and age-specific HCC risk (95% confidence interval (CI)) based on an age-cohort model of the observed HCC cases among persons aged 40-84 years in Canada, from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

	Male	Female			
Mid-year of Birth-cohort	Incidence Rat	e Ratio (95% CI)			
1896	0.63 (0.56-0.71)	0.66 (0.58-0.76)			
1901	0.72 (0.67-0.77)	0.86 (0.79-0.93)			
1906	0.79 (0.75-0.83)	0.85 (0.80-0.91)			
1911	0.87 (0.84-0.91)	0.93 (0.87-0.98			
1916	1.0 (reference)	1.0 (reference)			
1921	1.3 (1.2-1.3)	1.2 (1.1-1.2)			
1926	1.6 (1.6-1.7)	1.3 (1.2-1.4)			
1931	1.9 (1.8-2.0)	1.8 (1.7-1.9)			
1936	2.1 (2.0-2.2)	1.6 (1.5-1.8)			
1941	2.3 (2.1-2.2)	1.9 (1.8-2.1)			
1946	3.4 (3.2-3.1)	1.9 (1.6-2.1)			
1951	4.4 (4.1-4.8)	2.0 (1.7-2.4)			
1956	5.3 (4.7-6.0)	2.7 (2.1-3.3)			
Age-group (5-year)	Age-specfic In 100,000 perso	ncidence rate per on-years (95% CI)			
40-44	0.34 (0.31-0.37)	0.18 (0.15-0.20)			
45-49	0.79 (0.73-0.84)	0.33 (0.29-0.37)			
50-54	1.6 (1.6-1.7)	0.64 (0.59-0.71)			
55-59	3.6 (3.4-3.7)	1.2 (1.1-1.3)			
60-64	6.5 (6.3-6.8)	2.2 (2.0-2.3)			
65-69	11.0 (10.7-11.4)	3.4 (3.3-3.6)			
70-74	15.8 (15.3-16.4)	5.4 (5.1-5.7)			
75-79	20.8 (20.1-21.5)	7.6 (7.2-8.0)			
80-84	23.3 (22.3-24.3)	9.3 (8.8-9.8)			



**Appendix J. A.** Standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from the age-cohort model of incident HCC cases among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000 versus the fitted number of HCC cases, stratified sex. **B.** Standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from the age-cohort model of deaths from HCC among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000 versus the fitted number of HCC deaths, stratified by sex. (Each point represents the value of the standardized residuals for given age-group (5-year) and a given birth-cohort.)



**Appendix K. A.** Quantile-Normal plot of the standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from the age-cohort model of incident HCC cases among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex. **B.** Quantile-Normal plot of the standardized residuals (chi-residuals) from the age-cohort model of deaths from HCC among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex. (Each point represents the value of the standardized residuals for a given age-group (5-year) and a given birth-cohort.)



**Appendix L. A.** Observed number of HCC cases versus the fitted number of HCC cases from the age-cohort model of incident HCC cases among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex. **B.** Observed number of HCC deaths versus the fitted number of HCC deaths from the age-cohort model of HCC deaths among persons in Canada aged 40-84 years from 1976 through 2000, stratified by sex. (Each point represents the number of cases or deaths for a given age-group (5-year) and a given birth-cohort.)

Birth-cohort (mid-year) <sup>b</sup> / Age group (5-year) <sup>c</sup>	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)
	0.71	0.94	0.96	0.91	1.00	1.18	1.29	1.44	1.40	1.38	1.43	2.01	2.00
40-44 0.44									0.63 (21) <sup>d</sup> 0.62 (21) <sup>e</sup>	0.57 (22) 0.61 (23)	0.62 (30) 0.63 (30)	0.92 (51) 0.89 (49)	0.89 (56) 0.89 (56)
45-49 0.76								1.1 (35) 1.1(35)	0.99 (32) 1.1 (34)	1.1 (41) 1.0 (39)	1.1 (54) 1.1 (53)	1.5 (83) 1.5 (84)	
50-54 1.64							2.2 (68) 2.1 (64)	2.5 (80) 2.3 (74)	2.2 (70) 2.3 (73)	2.1 (78) 2.2 (82)	2.3 (109) 2.3 (110)		
55-59 2.98						2.6 (70) 3.5 (96)	3.6 (107) 3.8 (113)	5.0 (154) 4.3 (132)	4.3 (134) 4.2 (131)	4.2 (154) 4.1 (149)			
60-64 5.24					5.7 (127) 5.2 (117)	5.3 (134) 6.2 (158)	7.0 (194) 6.7 (188)	7.7 (229) 7.5 (223)	7.4 (222) 7.3 (221)				
65-69 8.26				7.3 (135) 7.6 (140)	8.2 (164) 8.3 (165)	11.4 (265) 9.8 (228)	10.7 (276) 10.6 (273)	10.6 (290) 11.9 (324)					
70-74 11.54			10.7 (140) 11.0 (145)	10.0 (153) 10.6 (162)	13.5 (229) 11.5 (196)	13.1 (262) 13.6 (274)	14.5 (323) 14.9 (330)						
75-79 13.60		12.6 (105) 12.8 (107)	12.0 (118) 13.0 (128)	13.9 (163) 12.4 (146)	11.4 (151) 13.6 (180)	17.6 (277) 16.1 (253)							
80-84 13.40	9.6 (43) 9.6 (43)	12.9 (69) 12.6 (67)	15.1 (97) 12.8 (83)	11.8 (93) 12.3 (96)	12.0 (107) 13.4 (120)								

Appendix M. Observed and fitted<sup>a</sup> HCC mortality rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC deaths (n) by age at death and birth- cohort (mid-year of birth-cohort), among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Fitted mortality rates and number of HCC deaths are based on an age-cohort Poisson regression model. <sup>b</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the birth-cohort relative rates are displayed beneath the birth years in the first row (the 1916 birth-cohort is the referent group).

<sup>c</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the age-specific rates (mortality per 100,000 person-years) are displayed beneath the 5-year age groups in the first column.

<sup>d</sup> The first row for each age group is the observed mortality rate (per 100,000 person-years) and the observed number of HCC deaths.

<sup>e</sup> The second row for each age group is the fitted mortality rate and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)] and in parentheses is the fitted number of HCC deaths and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate) x (person-years of observation)].

	Birth-cohort (mid-year) <sup>b</sup> /	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)
_	(5-year) <sup>c</sup>	0.98	0.92	1.04	1.12	1.00	1.05	1.02	1.10	0.99	0.89	0.55	0.69	0.58
	40-44 0.36									0.31 (10) <sup>d</sup> 0.35 (11) <sup>e</sup>	0.40 (15) 0.32 (12)	0.17 (8) 0.20 (9)	0.23 (13) 0.25 (14)	0.21 (13) 0.21 (13)
	45-49 0.47								0.32 (10) 0.52 (16)	0.66 (21) 0.46 (15)	0.40 (15) 0.42 (16)	0.25 (12) 0.26 (12)	0.34 (19) 0.33 (18)	
	50-54 0.65							0.58 (18) 0.66 (21)	0.48 (15) 0.72 (22)	0.98 (31) 0.64 (20)	0.51 (19) 0.57 (21)	0.40 (19) 0.36 (17)		
	55-59 1.20						1.3 (38) 1.3 (38)	1.1 (33) 1.2 (38)	1.5 (45) 1.3 (40)	1.2 (38) 1.2 (38)	1.1 (39) 1.1 (39)			
	60-64 2.03					2.1 (52) 2.0 (49)	2.3 (66) 2.1 (61)	2.1 (65) 2.1 (63)	2.5 (76) 2.2 (69)	1.5 (47) 2.0 (63)				
	65-69 2.73				3.1 (65) 3.1 (64)	2.6 (61) 2.7 (65)	3.2 (88) 2.9 (80)	2.5 (73) 2.8 (82)	3.1 (92) 3.0 (89)					
	70-74 4.02			3.2 (51) 4.2 (68)	4.4 (86) 4.5 (87)	4.9 (108) 4.0 (88)	3.6 (92) 4.2 (108)	4.6 (126) 4.1 (112)						
	75-79 4.75		4.2 (49) 4.4 (51)	5.1 (71) 5.0 (69)	6.3 (107) 5.3 (89)	3.8 (72) 4.8 (91)	5.0 (113) 5.0 (112)							
	80-84 5.08	5.0 (37) 5.0 (37)	4.9 (44) 4.7 (42)	6.7 (73) 5.3 (58)	4.4 (58) 5.7 (75)	5.1 (77) 5.1 (77)								

Appendix N. Observed and fitted<sup>a</sup> HCC mortality rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC deaths (n) by age at death and birth- cohort (mid-year of birth-cohort), among females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 1996-2000.

<sup>a</sup> Fitted mortality rates and number of HCC deaths are based on an age-cohort Poisson regression model. <sup>b</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the birth-cohort relative rates are displayed beneath the birth years in the first row (the 1916 birth-cohort is the referent group).

<sup>c</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the age-specific rates (mortality per 100,000 person-years) are displayed beneath the 5-year age groups in the first column.

<sup>d</sup> The first row for each age group is the observed mortality rate (per 100,000 person-years) and the observed number of HCC deaths.

<sup>e</sup> The second row for each age group is the fitted mortality rate and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)] and in parentheses is the fitted number of HCC deaths and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate) x (person-years of observation)].

Birth-cohort (mid-year) <sup>b</sup> /	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)	1957-1965 (1961)	1962-1970 (1966)	1967-1975 (1971)
(5-year) <sup>c</sup>	0.63	0.72	0.79	0.87	1.00	1.29	1.63	1.88	2.13	2.26	3.38	4.42	5.29	5.29	5.29	5.29
40-44 0.34									0.80 (27) <sup>d</sup> 0.72 (24) <sup>e</sup>	0.84 (32) 0.77 (29)	1.0 (49) 1.2 (58)	1.5 (82) 1.5 (83)	1.8 (112) 1.8 (114)	1.8 (122)	1.8 (114)	1.8 (106)
45-49 0.79								1.6 (51) 1.5 (48)	1.7 (56) 1.7 (55)	1.5 (56) 1.8 (67)	2.8 (134) 2.6 (124)	3.5 (194) 3.5 (195)	4.2 (264)	4.2 (281)	4.2 (267)	
50-54 1.64							3.0 (91) 2.7 (82)	3.1 (99) 3.1 (97)	3.4 (109) 3.5 (112)	3.5 (131) 3.7 (138)	5.6 (264) 5.6 (266)	7.3 (399)	8.7 (540)	8.7 (575)		
55-59 3.56						4.2 (114) 4.6 (125)	5.4 (160) 5.8 (170)	6.9 (213) 6.7 (206)	7.5 (236) 7.6 (238)	8.5 (307) 8.0 (292)	12.0 (559)	15.7 (853)	18.8 (1144)			
60-64 6.49					7.0 (155) 6.5 (145)	7.8 (199) 8.4 (213)	10.3 (287) 10.6 (295)	12.6 (372) 12.9 (382)	13.9 (419) 13.8 (418)	14.6 (509)	22.0 (963)	28.7 (1496)				
65-69 11.03				9.0 (167) 9.6 (178)	11.2 (224) 11.0 (221)	14.1 (328) 14.2 (331)	19.3 (496) 18.0 (462)	19.9 (542) 20.7 (566)	23.5 (658)	24.9 (813)	37.3 (1528)					
70-74 15.82			11.9 (156) 12.5 (163)	13.8 (211) 13.8 (212)	16.8 (286) 15.8 (268)	21.2 (426) 20.4 (410)	24.7 (548) 25.8 (573)	29.7 (712)	33.7 (844)	35.7 (1036)						
75-79 20.80		16.1 (134) 15.0 (125)	16.9 (166) 16.4 (161)	18.2 (214) 18.2 (213)	18.9 (250) 20.8 (275)	27.5 (434) 26.8 (423)	34.0 (607)	39.1 (750)	44.3 (911)							
80-84 23.31	14.7 (66) 14.7 (66)	15.2 (81) 16.8 (90)	18.8 (121) 18.4 (118)	21.9 (172) 20.4 (160)	22.7 (203) 23.3 (209)	30.1 (334)	38.0 (483)	43.8 (609)								

**Appendix O.** Observed and fitted<sup>a</sup> HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC cases (n) by age at diagnosis and birth-cohort (mid-year of birth-cohort), among males aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

<sup>a</sup> Fitted incidence rates and number of HCC cases are based on an age-cohort Poisson regression model.

<sup>b</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the birth-cohort relative rates are displayed beneath the birth years in the first row (the 1916 birth-cohort is the referent group).

<sup>c</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the age-specific rates (incidence per 100,000 person-years) are displayed beneath the 5-year age groups in the first column.

<sup>d</sup> The first row for each age group is the observed incidence rate (per 100,000 person-years) and the observed number of HCC cases.

<sup>e</sup> The second row for each age group is the fitted incidence rate and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)] and in parentheses is the fitted number of HCC deaths and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)].

Birth-cohort (mid-year) <sup>b</sup> /	1892-1900 (1896)	1897-1905 (1901)	1902-1910 (1906)	1907-1915 (1911)	1912-1920 (1916)	1917-1925 (1921)	1922-1930 (1926)	1927-1935 (1931)	1932-1940 (1936)	1937-1945 (1941)	1942-1950 (1946)	1947-1955 (1951)	1952-1960 (1956)	1957-1965 (1961)	1962-1970 (1966)	1967-1975 (1971)
(5-year) <sup>c</sup>	0.66	0.86	0.85	0.93	1.00	1.17	1.30	1.82	1.63	1.93	1.85	2.00	2.66	2.33	2.33	2.33
40-44 0.18									0.23 (8) <sup>d</sup> 0.29 (9) <sup>e</sup>	0.46 (17) 0.35 (13)	0.33 (16) 0.32 (15)	0.30 (17) 0.35 (19)	0.47 (30) 0.47 (30)	0.42 (29)	0.42 (26)	0.42 (24)
45-49 0.33								0.70 (22) 0.59 (18)	0.43 (14) 0.53 (17)	0.55 (21) 0.64 (24)	0.61 (29) 0.61 (29)	0.71 (40) 0.65 (36)	0.87 (55)	0.77 (51)	0.77 (49)	
50-54 0.64							0.71 (22) 0.84 (26)	1.2 (37) 1.2 (37)	1.2 (38) 1.1 (33)	1.2 (45) 1.2 (46)	1.2 (57) 1.2 (57)	1.3 (71)	1.7 (107)	1.5 (98)		
55-59 1.16						1.6 (47) 1.4 (40)	1.5 (47) 1.5 (47)	2.0 (61) 2.1 (66)	1.8 (58) 1.9 (60)	2.2 (83) 2.2 (83)	2.2 (102)	2.3 (129)	3.1 (192)			
60-64 2.17					2.4 (59) 2.2 (53)	2.7 (78) 2.6 (73)	2.3 (71) 2.8 (86)	4.0 123) 3.9 (121)	3.6 (114) 3.5 (111)	4.2 (153)	4.0 (184)	4.3 (236)				
65-69 3.44				3.5 (74) 3.2 (67)	3.4 (80) 3.4 (81)	3.8 (105) 4.0 (112)	4.6 (134) 4.5 (131)	6.2 (185) 6.3 (185)	5.6 (170)	6.6 (234)	6.4 (281)					
70-74 5.41			5.2 (84) 4.6 (75)	5.1 (99) 5.0 (97)	4.9 (108) 5.4 (119)	5.7 (147) 6.4 (164)	7.6 (207) 7.0 (191)	9.8 (271)	8.8 (252)	10.5 (344)						
75-79 7.60		6.8 (79) 6.5 (76)	5.6 (79) 6.5 (91)	6.2 (104) 7.0 (119)	8.2 (156) 7.6 (145)	9.4 (212) 8.9 (200)	9.9 (237)	13.8 (335)	12.4 (315)							
80-84 9.31	6.2 (46) 6.2 (46)	7.6 (68) 8.0 (71)	8.1 (89) 7.9 (87)	9.1 (120) 8.6 (114)	9.0 (136) 9.3 (141)	10.9 (199)	12.1 (237)	16.9 (338)								

**Appendix P.** Observed and fitted<sup>a</sup> HCC incidence rate per 100,000 person-years and number of HCC cases (n) by age at diagnosis and birth-cohort (mid-year of birth-cohort), among females aged 40-84 years in Canada from 1976-1980 through 2011-2015.

<sup>a</sup> Fitted incidence rates and number of HCC cases are based on an age-cohort Poisson regression model.

<sup>b</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the birth-cohort relative rates are displayed beneath the birth years in the first row (the 1916 birth-cohort is the referent group).

<sup>c</sup> Poisson regression estimates of the age-specific rates (incidence per 100,000 person-years) are displayed beneath the 5-year age groups in the first column.

<sup>d</sup> The first row for each age group is the observed incidence rate (per 100,000 person-years) and the observed number of HCC cases.

<sup>e</sup> The second row for each age group is the fitted incidence rate and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate)] and in parentheses is the fitted number of HCC cases and it is equal to [(birth-cohort-specific relative rate) x (age-specific rate) x (person-years of observation)].